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Thursday, July 10, 2008

--- Upon commencing at 9:36 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

Procedural matters:


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rogers, before we begin, you are aware that, I presume that the Board has received some communication from Owen Sound, West Grey and Grey Highlands, on this notice issue.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  I don't propose to deal with it now, but at some point when it is convenient we would like to discuss that with you --


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, indeed.


MR. KAISER:  -- as to what we should do and what the issue really is.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. MacIntosh, you have some questions of the previous panel?


MR. ROGERS:  I just have a couple of administrative matters to deal with.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  I do have panel 2 back this morning.  Mr. MacIntosh indicated he wished to ask them some questions, and so they are here.  


Panel 3 is standing by to begin as soon as we are through with panel 2.


I can advise the Board that I have given to my friend, Mr. Millar, some answers to undertakings.  There are copies available for people here and we're circulating them electronically.  So this morning we have filed the following undertakings:  J1.1, J1.4, J1.7 and J1.11.


I will file the balance of them as soon as they're available.


MR. KAISER:  We have those?  Yes, thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  In addition to that, sir, we're dealing with the logistics.  There are a few transcript corrections I would like to make.  I would like to advise the Board that I don't intend to correct all grammatical errors and so on, but anything significant that potentially could lead to misunderstanding or confusion, I would like to correct them.  I propose to do it on the record now, just a couple of them.


On day 1, in volume 1, at page 36, at line 1, Mr. Innis -- I believe the reporter is correct, but I think he misspoke.  He will be back if anybody has any questions about this, but at line 1, at the top of page 36, you will see he referred to "projected 2007 costs that were filed in August 2007".  I believe those should be 2008 costs.


Then at line 4, he is reported as saying: 

"...but our overall revenue requirement we will not be submitting.  That's level $1,067,000,000."  


If he did say that, he was incorrect.  It should be -- the "not" should not be.  It should be:  We will be submitting.  That's level $1,067,000,000.


The last one I would like to correct from that transcript is at page 57, at line 6.  Once again, it is Mr. Innis and he is reported as saying there that: 

"They would have adjusted the application percentage to deduct a proportion to distribution or transmission."


That should read:  


They would have adjusted the application percentage to direct a proportion to distribution or transmission.  


As I say, he will be back if people think they would have any questions arising out of that, but I thought it could be a little misleading and that's why I corrected it.


The only other change -- the only other matter I would like to address this morning deals with panel 2, and this is in volume 2 at page 135.  Once again, I think the reporter probably got it right, and Mr. Juhn I believe misspoke.  At line 11, the word "unplanned" should be "planned".  So that the sentence would read, quote:  

"So in the neighbourhood, it can be double the cost of what it would be planned."  


As I say -- Mr. Juhn, have I stated correctly what you intended to say?


MR. JUHN:  Yes, you have.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Those are the only corrections I wish to make.  Thank you, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. MacIntosh.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 2, RESUMED


Cliff Coulis, Previously Sworn


Mark Graham, Previously Sworn


George Juhn, Previously Sworn


Rick Stevens, Previously Sworn

Cross-examination by Mr. MacIntosh:


MR. MacINTOSH:  Good morning, panel.  My name is David MacIntosh and I am here on behalf of Energy Probe Research Foundation.


Mr. Chair, I did put together a package of the documents I am referring to, and there's nothing other than evidence in the documents.


I just thought it might be a little easier if I have them in one package.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  That's always helpful.


--- Mr. Mukherji passes out documents.


MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we mark that, Mr. Chair, as Exhibit K3.1, the Energy Probe cross-examination materials.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  ENERGY PROBE CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Panel, my questions will be in respect of issue 4.2:  Are the amounts proposed for 2008 capital expenditures appropriate?


And I will be dealing with materials in the package, Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 3, and it is project S16, Thessalon rebuild.


By way of background, Thessalon was apparently named after an ancient town in Greece and apparently came to Hydro One with a distribution system of similar vintage.  So Thessalon was purchased by Hydro One in 2001 and since then appears to have attracted a lot of rebuilding activity.


The following questions explore why this rebuilding is necessary, and particularly why it wasn't identified in the condition assessment report prepared by Hydro One staff at the time of purchase.


The other document we're dealing with is the interrogatory of Energy Probe, Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 5, and that's in that package.


So Thessalon was purchased in 2001 by Hydro One for $560,000; is that correct?


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Since buying it, Hydro One appears to be completely rebuilding the system; is that correct?  


MR. GRAHAM:  I think it would be fair to say the rebuild that is illustrated in the document S16 that you referred to is what we're planning to do.  There's a significant rebuild of the system, yes.


MR. MacINTOSH:  You are converting the system from a 2.4 kV system to a 14.4 kV system; correct?


MR. JUHN:  Just let me check that.  Into a 25/14.4 kV system, yes.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.  At the time Thessalon was purchased, did Hydro One have any other distribution units using a 2.4 kV system?


MR. JUHN:  I believe we did, but I am not 100 percent certain.


MR. MacINTOSH:  So this wasn't a technology that you were planning to expand across your distribution system?


MR. JUHN:  That is correct.


MR. MacINTOSH:  And what you're doing now, you're rebuilding the lines and replacing the transformers; would that be correct to say?


MR. JUHN:  Some of the lines we are modifying, yes, and we are replacing transformers to accommodate the upgrade in voltage, yes.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Would it also be necessary to replace the distribution stations?

MR. JUHN:  Actually, it eliminates two distribution stations.

MR. MacINTOSH:  How much will Hydro One ultimately have to spend to rebuild the system?  I notice this is part 2 of 4 that we're looking at now.

MR. JUHN:  I do not have the final cost estimate with me.

MR. MacINTOSH:  I am going to mention another interrogatory that --

MR. KAISER:  Can I just stop you there, Mr. MacIntosh.

MR. KAISER:  Can you get it?  The final cost estimate?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Can we have an undertaking for that.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J3.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  TO PROVIDE FINAL COST ESTIMATE TO REBUILD SYSTEM

MR. MacINTOSH:  I am going to mention another interrogatory that Energy Probe asked, but you don't need to look it up because I am going to read it into the transcript.

That was Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 4.  In that interrogatory, at B, Hydro One was asked:

"Were there any stations refurbished by Hydro One over the past 10 years previously owned by municipal utilities acquired by Hydro One since 1998?  If so, provide details."


In the answer, number 6 was identified as Thessalon Peachy, and number 7, Thessalon Government.

So at the time you bought the system, Hydro One did a conditional assessment report; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That is correct.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Did that report indicate that a complete rebuild would be necessary?

MR. GRAHAM:  I am not that familiar with that report.  It certainly indicated that a lot of the assets were at or near end of life.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Well, if the condition assessment then at the time purchased did not indicate a complete rebuild would be necessary, why is it necessary now?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think Mr. Stevens may want to add to this, but it did indicate that the price was discounted given the condition of the assets that were there, and that would, of course, have an accommodation for future reinvestment in the system.

MR. MacINTOSH:  I think also -- and I stand to be corrected on this -- but it seems to me that at the time that the assessment, financial assessment was done, there was a multiple of 1.2 times the value paid for the utility.

In other words, the value was increased for purchase.  I will just give you that reference.  That would be page 14 on the package that I gave you.  It's in the paragraph at the middle of the page.

So it would appear that --

MR. ROGERS:  Just let them have a look at this page, Mr. MacIntosh.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Certainly.

MR. STEVENS:  I have that reference.

MR. MacINTOSH:  The last sentence says: 
"Multiple of 1.2 times the value paid for the utility should be 441,760,000."

And the financial model, which I would assume was based partially on what the anticipated price of power would be, came out to the 527,000.

So it doesn't look like a lot of discounting was done for the assets, although I do notice a number of them were excluded including legal bills booked as an asset.

So could you tell me what the refurbishment work that was done would amount to.  That would be the refurbishment which was identified in answer to our interrogatory, which I just read into the transcript.  That would be Thessalon Peachy and Thessalon Government.



Could you tell us what refurbishment work was done then, in 2003, and how much it cost?

MR. JUHN:  I don't have the details or the information, in terms of the cost at hand.

The work was carried out in 2003, shortly after we would have assumed ownership of Thessalon.  At that time, initial condition assessment would have been carried out on the station and some items would have been addressed.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Can you provide that amount to us, the costs of refurbishment work that was done?

MR. ROGERS:  Can that be obtained fairly easily.

MR. JUHN:  It's 2003 data so it may not be readily available.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, Mr. Chairman, can I take it under advisement?  I am not sure where we're going with this, but if it's relevant to --

MR. KAISER:  If it's not too much difficulty, we if you don't we will deal with that.

MR. MILLAR:  We'll give that a placeholder, Undertaking J3.2.  What was that for?
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  TO ADVISE CAPITAL EXPENDITURES MADE IN 2003 WITH RESPECT TO ACQUISITION OF TWO THESSALON STATIONS

MR. ROGERS:  I think it is what costs were -- what capital expenditures were made in 2003, with respect to the Thessalon acquisition.  Two stations.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MacINTOSH:  So my question is that, if the system was in such bad shape that it needs a complete rebuild and voltage conversion, why did Hydro One spend any money refurbishing stations that were going to be obsolete?

MR. JUHN:  As I indicated, I don't have the details on the stations.  But the asset condition assessment would have identified some defects and the other aspect to consider, it's a time base.  There would have been time required to analyze the system, determine the future load requirements, and also because this was a special -- this was a special system, from our normal operations, it was a DELTA system of three-wire system, versus what our normal rural system is a four-wire system that includes a neutral.

There would have been time required to look at the alternatives and to determine the appropriate solution.  What we presented in IJDS16 is the ultimate solution that we decided on, that we believe is appropriate.

MR. MacINTOSH:  So in summary, you bought the utility for $560,000, which at the time was apparently a fair price for a utility of 700-and-some customers, because it was, after all, approved by the Board.

However, the assessment report indicated that trouble calls on the system were about one per month on the average.  I think you will find that in your filed document.

MR. GRAHAM:  Excuse me, Mr. MacIntosh.  If you could just give me a reference for that?  I found it actually, page 5 or, sorry, page 8 of your handout, I think.  Page 5 of the due diligence report --

MR. MacINTOSH:  Right.  Right.

MR. GRAHAM: -- in the middle of the page.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Now, so we had an average of one call a month.  So is it fair to say that the system at that time was performing satisfactorily?

MR. GRAHAM:  I guess "satisfactorily" is a difficult standard to say exactly.  I mean, it was knowledge -- acknowledged that was the level of trouble calls that were being experienced.  The due diligence report did go through the assets and look at what was there, so that in terms of performance, that would have been one of the aspects we would have considered in establishing a price and establishing our commitment to buy the utility.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Well, I do note that just above the trouble call reference, there was a reference also to the fact that there were no outstanding damage claims at the time of purchase.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. MacINTOSH:  So now Hydro One is going to spend an amount that you're going to let us know to rebuild the system and ask that other ratepayers pay for that, would that be correct, including, of course, the ratepayers of Thessalon?

MR. GRAHAM:  It is part of our submission; that's correct.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Have you had similar experiences with other acquisitions that you have made?

MR. GRAHAM:  All I can point you to in that regard is the evidence that mentions, for example, in response to your interrogatory, which stations we've done some refurbishment work on over the past few years in terms of acquired utilities.

MR. MacINTOSH:  This was the only 2.4 kV system that you purchased, as far as you know?

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm not aware one way or the other.

MR. MacINTOSH:  I guess our ultimate question is going to be:  Why should Hydro One customers be asked to pay more to make up for Hydro One's mistakes in acquiring rundown utilities?

So I think we could leave that for argument.

MR. ROGERS:  It sounds like a question you hear in parliament.

MR. MacINTOSH:  It does; it does.

MR. ROGERS:  More argument than a question.

MR. MacINTOSH:  It would probably be an answer that had nothing to do with the question.

MR. GRAHAM:  Excuse me, Mr. Stevens has something to comment on.

MR. STEVENS:  I can comment on the way we actually value a utility.  Maybe that would give some clarity.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Yes, please.

MR. STEVENS:  When we do a valuation, we actually issue -- as the evidence shows, we do a fairly detailed due diligence process to uncover what the future capital expenditures of the utility will be.

We put that into a discounted cash flow model that projects revenue and costs going forward, and, through a net present value type calculation, come out what we believe is the value.

In that, we also assume a certain level of synergy, right, because Thessalon is a fully embedded utility.  You know, there would be very, very little incremental costs to us, other than the identified capital, to assume a utility of that size.

When we actually do the pricing, we acknowledge what the value is and we try to stick within the -- we do stick within that value parameter.

So all of the costs associated with this utility would have been accounted for, to the best of our ability, when we did the acquisition.

MR. KAISER:  You mentioned, Mr. Stevens, here -- or I guess the report does, that the suggested purchase price was 1.2 times net book value.

Is that the standard procedure when you buy these companies?  You work off book value and the audited financial statements?

MR. STEVENS:  No, it's not.  We actually do a discounted cash flow on top of that standard benchmark, and, based on my experience - I was around for the acquisition of the '89 - I think for small embedded utilities, the average was closer to about 1.3, again, because the synergies were fairly significant.  And, you know, to be honest, we were competing with other buyers at that point in time.  So there would be value attributed to that.

MR. KAISER:  I think where Mr. MacIntosh is going:  Does cash flow analysis take into account that you may have to completely revamp the assets?

MR. STEVENS:  If we were able to identify it at the time.  We actually did a ten-year cash flow and we would project out the expected capital expenditures that would be required, and that's why we do the due diligence.

MR. KAISER:  So in whatever report you had that supported the decision to buy this company, it would have, I take it, the cash flow projection, and it would also have any expected capital expenditures over that same period to upgrade it, as necessary, would it?

MR. STEVENS:  Back in 2001, yes.  Our financial model would have -- you know, again, based on what we could determine at the time, the financial model would include that.

MR. KAISER:  Would that help you, Mr. MacIntosh, if you had that?

MR. MacINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  If you can find that business plan or financial analysis that supported this purchase, why don't you make it available?  It might shorten the examination.

MR. STEVENS:  It was 2001, but...

MR. ROGERS:  If it can be found, we will.

MR. KAISER:  If you have it.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be undertaking J3.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  TO PROVIDE 2001 BUSINESS PLAN OR FINANCIAL MODEL.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Mr. Stevens, my last question was:  Are you indicating that Hydro One was competing with other purchasers for Thessalon?

MR. STEVENS:  I don't recall the specifics on that one, but I know there were a couple that were actually -- I know your question is more:  Are we competing in the north?  There were utilities that were interested in assets in the north.

MR. MacINTOSH:  True.  Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Anything further on that, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  No, thank you.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll proceed with the next panel.

MR. ROGERS:  May this panel be excused, then, sir?

MR. KAISER:  Oh, I'm sorry.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Then we're ready with panel 3.

MR. ROGERS:  They're in the building and will be here shortly.

MR. KAISER:  Why don't we take a short break and allow you to get ready?  Ten minutes.

--- Recess taken at 10:03 a.m.
    --- On resuming at 10:10 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

Mr. Rogers.  

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, sir.  I have panel 3 here ready to be sworn.  

Mr. Van Dusen in the middle has already been sworn and is still under oath, but Mr. David Curtis and Ms. Judy McKellar are on the panel and I would ask that they be sworn, please.  
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 3


David Curtis; Sworn


Greg Van Dusen; Previously sworn


Judy McKellar; Sworn

Examination by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  May I introduce the new panel members to you.  

Mr. Curtis, we have filed as Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 2, page 3 of 12 your curriculum vitae.  Is that an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience?  

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, it is.  

MR. ROGERS:  Very briefly, sir, I understand that you have a -- hold a bachelor of science in physics degree from McMaster University. 

MR. CURTIS:  I do. 

MR. ROGERS:  In addition, have a Master's degree in nuclear physics from the State University of New York -- 

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I do. 

MR. ROGERS: -- which you achieved in 1974. 

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I do. 

MR. ROGERS:  You also hold a master of business administration degree from McMaster University. 

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I do. 

MR. ROGERS:  You have, I see, worked in the electricity industry for many years, beginning in 1978 as an assistant technical supervisor in the nuclear generation division of the old Ontario Hydro. 

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct. 

MR. ROGERS:  And since that time, you have worked continuously in various positions set out in your curriculum vitae with Ontario Hydro or its successor companies?  

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I have. 

MR. ROGERS:  Those responsibilities have included, in 1998 and 2001, manager of the transmission regulation with that company. 

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct. 

MR. ROGERS:  You are presently, I understand, the director of business transformation.  

MR. CURTIS:  Actually, I just received a change in my assignment.  I am now the director of asset management policies and procedures.  

MR. ROGERS:  I hope that's a promotion.  

MR. CURTIS:  More responsibilities.  That's about it.  

MR. ROGERS:  And in that capacity, now, what areas of the evidence will you be responding to, Mr. Curtis?  

MR. CURTIS:  I will be responding to the Cornerstone aspects of the evidence.  

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  I'm sure some people will have some questions for you about that.  

Ms. McKellar, your curriculum vitae has been filed at that same exhibit, and is it an accurate reflection of your experience and qualifications?   

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is.  

MR. ROGERS:  I understand, Ms. McKellar, that you hold an honours bachelor degree in political science from the University of Toronto. 

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct. 

MR. ROGERS:  You began with the old Ontario Hydro in the human resources area in 1982 and have worked with the company since that time. 

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct. 

MR. ROGERS:  Always -- it looks to me to be always in the human relations area of the company?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Human resources, yes, that's correct. 

MR. ROGERS:  You now hold the position of director human resources with the applicant company?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct. 

MR. ROGERS:  And I understand that you are here to respond to questions about human resources and wage levels and the like. 

MS. McKELLAR:  Corporate staffing, compensation, wages, and benefits, that's correct. 

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Fine.  Thank you very much.  

Before turning this panel over for examination, I do have a few questions I would like to put to them in chief which I hope will help.

First of all, Mr. Van Dusen, there has been some discussion in the hearing about benchmarking studies which the Board asked the applicant to perform beginning back in the distribution case.  Are you familiar with the recommendation that the Board made back in the first distribution case in 2005, RP-2005-0020?  

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I am familiar with that recommendation.  

MR. ROGERS:  There, the Board -- you don't need to turn it up I don't think -- although at page 20 of the Board -- the Board directed Hydro One to engage an independent party to develop a list of comparable North American companies with similar business models, transmission and/or distribution, and to report on high-level comparative performance and cost information for Hydro One and these companies.   

Tell us has the company responded to that direction from the Board?  

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, the company has responded to that direction from the Board.  

In this proceeding, we filed Exhibit A15-2, on performance benchmarking.  

MR. ROGERS:  Fine.  Thank you.  Mr. Kaiser had asked one of the previous witnesses about that.  My understanding is that that issue is now a settled issue in this case pursuant to the settlement conference. 

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.  That issue was settled and the settlement agreement is filed as an attachment to Procedural Order No. 5, attachment A.  

MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you. 

MR. KAISER:  What does the settlement mean, that there can be no questions on the benchmarking study?  

MR. ROGERS:  Well...

MR. KAISER:  It means the intervenors accept the benchmarking studies. 

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Yes.  Of course if the Board had questions, as you know, you can ask questions about anything you like.  But I think it was that the intervenors accepted the study as a reasonable response to the Board's request and had no concerns about it, with a couple of exceptions which I am going to come to.  

As a matter of fact, the settlement, I will just show you -- I will read it to you, sir.  It might clarify what we're doing here.  

The issue was issue 1.1:   
"Has Hydro One responded appropriately to all relevant Board directions from previous proceedings?"


It was a partially settled issue.  I think it is fair to say that the intervenors accepted that applicant had met that direction from the Board with two exceptions, and those relate to CDM and to compensation.  

Ms. McKellar is here to answer questions about the compensation and I would like to ask her a few questions about what the company has done to address the Board's direction in that case to date.  

So Ms. McKellar -- 

MR. DeVELLIS:  Mr. Chairman, sorry to interrupt Mr. Rogers.  I want to clarify.  The issues were specifically to what Hydro One was directed to do in the previous proceeding.  So the settlement has to do with whether or not the company complied with the direction -- that is, to obtain the benchmarking study.  So that is what we settled.  We do have questions on the studies and the results of the studies, and implications of the studies. 

MR. KAISER:  That's where I was going, as to what the settlement... so you accept -- would I be right to say you accept that they have done something?  But it may not -- do you accept that they have met the requirements of the decision with respect to the production of the benchmarking studies or are you going to take the position they might be deficient in some regard? 

MR. DeVELLIS:  We're not taking the position the benchmarking study is deficient but we have questions on the implications of the study.  The issue has to deal with whether the company had complied with the directions to obtain a study and they've done that, and that's all we've settled.   

MR. KAISER:  That's fine. 

MR. ROGERS:  No quarrel.  

Ms. McKellar, just dealing with the Board's direction at page 20 of the distribution case I referred to.  

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  

MR. ROGERS:  The Board said there at page 3.5 -- I'm sorry, paragraph 3.5.7:

"In addition, the Board directs Hydro One to engage an independent party to develop a comparison of labour rates and overtime policies amongst Hydro One, other comparative Ontario electricity distributors, and other Canadian utilities as identified in the high-level benchmarking study.  This independent study should also be submitted as part of Hydro One's next main application for distribution and transmission rates."


You were aware of that direction?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I was.  

MR. ROGERS:  And I am going to refer you to the transmission case, which followed soon after that distribution case, where another direction was given then I will ask you to explain to the Board what the company did in response to those directions and what work is presently ongoing in response to it.  All right.  

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's fine.  

MR. ROGERS:  Now, the company had a transmission revenue case for 2007 and 2008 transmission revenue, and the Board issued a decision on August 16th, 2007.  

At page 33 of that decision, the Board discussed the work that had been done to date in response to the direction I have just referenced, it directed the company to do more work in this area, as you will see.  It talked about the PA study which had been filed in the distribution case and which had certain limitations to it, which I think the applicant acknowledged readily.  

Then the Board said this:

"The PA study filed in this application suffered from various deficiencies and shortcomings, as noted by the authors of the study, the applicant and the intervenors.  The Board expects the new study to be comprehensive and reliable with none of the limitations of the PA study.  If Hydro One cannot correct all these deficiencies in time for the company's 2008 distribution rate filing, the Board expects them to be corrected in the 2009 transmission filing."

Now, Ms. McKellar, with that long preamble, I wonder if you would be kind enough to advise the Board of the efforts the company has made to comply with their direction and where the work now stands.

MS. McKELLAR:  Sure, I will.

What we have filed is a comparison of labour rates and overtime policy, and that is what we know as the Hay study, and that shows a comparison between three major work or job classifications at Hydro One, one from the Power Workers' Union, one from the Society and one from management.

That deals, as I said, with compensation and overtime.  Shortly thereafter, I appeared in the transmission hearing, where we were directed to do the total compensation study, as Mr. Rogers has just explained, and that will be filed with our transmission evidence and that will deal with -- it will be a more comprehensive study looking at many more job classifications in Hydro One, and will deal with total compensation, including benefits and pension, which the current study does not deal with.

MR. ROGERS:  You anticipate that study will be available to be filed with the transmission application?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Which is pending.  Has the design of that study involved your stakeholders?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it has.  There have been various stakeholder meetings where we've had their input and consulted them with respect to what they want to see, what they're interested in seeing in that study, and, as I said, it's going to be much more comprehensive than that study which is filed here in this distribution evidence.

MR. ROGERS:  Which is the study by the Hay Group, which is part of this evidence?

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much, Ms. McKellar.  Those are my questions.

Thank you, sir

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Lokan, do you have questions?

MR. LOKAN:  Yes, I do have some questions.
Cross-examination by Mr. Lokan:


MR. LOKAN:  Members of the panel, I am Andrew Lokan appearing for the Power Workers' Union.  Good morning.

MS. McKELLAR:  Good morning.

MR. LOKAN:  I understand from the material filed that Hydro One takes what's described as a work-based approach to staffing; is that correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is correct.

MR. LOKAN:  As I understand that concept, it is one where the corporation defines its needs, its programs, and so on, and then tailors the work force around the needs, rather than the other way around.  Is that a fair summary?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is.  What we do is we look at what the work priorities, the work programs are, and then we look at what staff are required, whether they be regular, part time - our hiring hall is utilized quite a bit - and what skills are needed.  We call it a work-based approach to business planning.

MR. LOKAN:  And the rationale that is offered in the materials is that you have variable needs, for example, seasonality, which means that sometimes you need more staff; other times you need fewer staff?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  I also understand from your materials that this is a time of dramatically expanding work programs.  Is that a fair characterization?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  And if I can get you to turn to Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 2.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second.  We're getting the exhibit.  Thank you.  Oh, sorry.  My apologies.  I have it.  Yes, I have that.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  If you look at page 7 of 17.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.

MR. LOKAN:  I am just looking -- there's a summary under the first bullet point of the major growth in work programs that are said to require increased staffing resources, and you cite various factors:  conservation initiatives, smart meters, vegetation management, increased demand in specific geographic areas, need to replace aging assets, system expansion and generation mix.

I know it is throughout the materials, but I take it this is a good summary of the areas in which the work programs are expanding?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct, it is.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  Now, in terms of meeting the work load, I understand from the materials you have various categories of employees?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  And they consist of regular staff, temporary employees, casual workers and contract staff?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  And just so I am clear on the divisions between the categories, under casual, you would have, for example, the building trade unions engaged in construction work, and you would also have the hiring hall?

MS. McKELLAR:  I should be clear that depending on which chart and which piece of evidence you are looking at, they may be categorized different, but it is important to recognize that the hiring hall are a contingent work force, in any case.  So they're either classified, depending on the evidence, as temporaries or as casual in other pieces of the evidence.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  So there might be some overlap between the descriptions of temporary employees and casual employees in the materials?

MS. McKELLAR:  I think it's best to remember that the hiring hall, the building trades union, contingent work force which is hired through the Power Workers' Union through their hire hiring hall to do work, as you say, a seasonal nature, by and large.  

We also have temporary staff that we hire that -- particularly in the Society-represented jobs and management jobs.

MR. LOKAN:  Right, okay.  When it comes to contract staff, you don't regard those -- the employees of contractors, they're never part, as I understand it, of the Hydro One work force, but there is, to some extent, some contracting out functions?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  Consistent with the collective agreements?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  An example of that, I think we have seen in the evidence, is around tree-trimming.  There was, in 2007, some use of contractors around tree-trimming?

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  Now, in addition to those categories, you also make use of overtime for regular employees and I suppose also temporary employees?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, we do.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  Overtime, is it fair to say that overtime is another mechanism to provide flexibility in meeting your workplace needs?

MS. McKELLAR:  Absolutely.  In the evidence, we talk about overtime, and it's important to realize that given the essential nature of our business and the fact that it is a 24-7 operation and a lot of our overtime has to do with storm restoration, it is a necessary part of the business.  

We work often in remote locations where it does not make good business sense to send in another crew.  It's more cost efficient and customer focussed to complete the work and have the crew complete it on overtime.

MR. LOKAN:  Right.  And I take it when you use overtime, you don't need to increase the complement.  You have the work force already there, so there is that advantage?

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. LOKAN:  You have existing employees who are fully trained.  You don't need to train anybody up, and it permits you to deal with fluctuations up and down in the day-to-day workplace needs?

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  Now, if I can get you on the same exhibit to look at page 9 of 17?  Actually, just while we're still on page 7, I did want to note one thing.

The third bullet point on page 7, you have described a substantial shift in staff demographics as one of the challenges that Hydro One faces at the moment.

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. LOKAN:  That's characterized as -- I am reading the first sentence:

"Substantial shift in staff demographics which will result in a large proportion of current staff retiring over the next decade and backfilling with new staff on a relative scale not seen in decades."

I just want you to take note of that, because I am going to return to that in a few moments.

MS. McKELLAR:  That's fine.

MR. LOKAN:  If we can now go to page 9, just under the bar chart there, I see that you have said in the evidence that despite a 40 percent increase in Networks' business work program expenditures between 2006 and 2008, the regular staff count is expected to only have grown by 23 percent and total staff resources by 34 percent.

This is an indication that Hydro One is getting more work done without a corresponding increase in resource levels.

Is it fair to say that that demonstrates an increased reliance on the flexible mechanism that I was asking you about, the flexible mechanisms?  That is to say, more use of casual, temporary, employees and overtime, rather than increase in full time regular complement?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  And just to put that in a bit of historical context.  I understand that at earlier periods in the corporation's history, things have gone in the other direction work wise, if I can put it that way.  You faced shrinking workloads?

For example, between 2000 and 2003 there were substantial reductions in workplace complement.

MS. McKELLAR:  There were.  I would not necessarily attribute it to shrinking workloads but there was a different direction the company was going in.  We were looking at an initial public offering and therefore we ran a very large voluntary retirement program.  As you know, the shareholder changed -- changed our direction.

MR. LOKAN:  Right.  And without getting too much into the minutia of that period, you are, I take it, aware of the pension case, the Hydro One members committee case of at the Financial Services Tribunal.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I am aware of it.

MR. LOKAN:  There is a decision dated August 1, 2007, which traces the history of that period and the staffing levels of participants in the pension plan.

Just before -- I am going to have a couple of things I am going to ask you to confirm about that.  But just before I do, I take it we agree that the pension plan is something that only the regular employees participate in --

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MR. LOKAN: -- is that correct?  So the hiring hall employees do not participate in that plan.  The BTUs don't participate in that plan.

MS. McKELLAR:  No.  In fact, that is where largely our cost savings come by using hiring hall, as they do not participate in the pension plans or benefit plans of Hydro One.

MR. LOKAN:  Right.  And temporary employees don't participate in that plan; you have to be around for a while before you're eligible?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. LOKAN:  That's, if you like, a proxy for the core full-time regular work force participation in that plan.  Is that fair?

MS. McKELLAR:  For regular employees, yes.

MR. LOKAN:  For regular employees.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  During the period 2000 to 2003, as traced in that decision, the membership, active membership in the plan went from over 6,000 to under 4,000?  Can you confirm that or does that sound about right?

MS. McKELLAR:  It sounds reasonable.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  I am just going to give a couple of page references and perhaps you can check them and advise me if you have anything to the contrary at a later stage.

Page 24 refers to there being 3,913 actives at the end of the period that's December 31, 2002.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry, what exhibit are you referring to?

MR. LOKAN:  It's not an exhibit, it is a decision of the Financial Services Tribunal it's a public record.

MS. McKELLAR:  Can you repeat the number?

MR. LOKAN:  Page 24, 3,913 actives at the end of December 2002.  3,913.

These are numbers you are likely are familiar with.  That decision traces how the VRP resulted in, I believe, 1,402 employees leaving the active work force.

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  And that was actually quite a bit more than projected.  It was projected to be some 800 or 900.

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  There was a higher take-up than expected on that plan, on the VRP.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  And just to get a bit of a sense of where we've gone since then, I notice that the 2006 actuarial valuation has been filed in the evidence.

MS. McKELLAR:  Mm-hmm.

MR. LOKAN:  I am just going to ask you to look at a number there.  In response to an interrogatory, this would be H1, schedule 76.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.

MR. LOKAN:  Exhibit A is the plan actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2006.  So four years later.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, correct.

MR. LOKAN:  If you look -- this one is in the evidence.  If you look at page 32.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.

MR. LOKAN:  There is a chart of active and LTD members that gives, as of four years later, end of 2006, the number 4,168.  And that's in the bottom right of the chart.

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. LOKAN:  So just looking at that.  It seems that over those years, at least up to the end of 2006, there has not been a dramatic growth in the regular full-time complement.  Is that fair?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  I have some questions about the labour market and demographics and I wonder if you could turn up Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 1.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I have it.

MR. LOKAN:  You have here a couple of specifics on the demographic challenges.  I see in the second paragraph an estimate that as of December 31, 2008 approximately 1,000 network staff, representing 24 percent of the current population, are eligible for undiscounted retirement.  Is that correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  That is correct.

MR. LOKAN:  Again, just to understand some relative numbers here, 1,000, if that is 24 percent, I take it that we're still in the 4,000-range-ish, for the regular full-time complement.

MS. McKELLAR:  In the 4,000 range, yes, that's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  Then as you read on in that paragraph, it's noted that that demographic challenge is industry-wide.  It's consistent with data that up to half the work force in the North American electricity industry will be eligible for retirement in the next five years.

So I take it Hydro One is not alone in facing this challenge?

MS. McKELLAR:  No, we are not.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  You have characterized the labour market as being highly competitive on page 1 of that exhibit.

Would you agree with me that there is a continent-wide shortage in the skilled trades generally, to your knowledge?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. LOKAN:  That we currently have the lowest unemployment rate that we have had for many years, even decades?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  And that, in particular, in the electricity sector, it's increasingly difficult to recruit in the skilled trades?

MS. McKELLAR:  That would be correct.

MR. LOKAN:  Now, you describe some of the recruitment efforts starting at page 5 of this exhibit.

I am noting on the bottom paragraph of that page, there is a reference to 
"...recruitment into trades apprenticeship and technical training programs, and partnering with universities and to develop curricula that educates students in areas where we face a shortage of skilled professionals and tradespeople."

Are you able to give any examples of that?

MS. McKELLAR:  The examples of the partnerships that we're doing?

MR. LOKAN:  Yes.

MS. McKELLAR:  Absolutely I would be glad to.

Hydro One I believe has been at the forefront in dealing with this demographic challenge that we face.  We have partnered with a variety of colleges and universities.  With respect to universities, we have been partnered with Western and Waterloo, in terms of developing power systems engineering curriculum.

Universities stopped offering this when the industry stopped hiring graduates with power system backgrounds in the '90s -- '80s and '90s, so they stopped offering the curriculum.  We have been funding it.  We have been giving scholarships, giving lab equipment, research equipment, so they can offer it again.

We are also partnering with four Ontario colleges, Algonquin, Georgian, Mohawk and Northern, and that's in an effort to educate students as technicians, technologists, operators in the electricity sector.

Once again, this includes scholarships, donation of lab equipment, curriculum development, and we place co-ops each year.  We place as many as 200 co-ops a year at Hydro One in the hopes that they will want to stay in the electricity sector and join us when they graduate from the college or university.

Those are just two examples.  I could go on, if you want more information.

MR. LOKAN:  I think that is fine.  You mention also on this page the chair -- being the chair of the Electricity Sector Council.  Could you just elaborate a little bit on what that is?

MS. McKELLAR:  Sure, I would be happy to.

In fact, it is -- the senior vice president of Hydro One, who happens to be my boss, is the chair of the Electricity Sector Council, and that is a nation-wide council which its mandate is to increase the number of skilled workers in the electricity industry.

They work with educators, union bodies and employers in order to look at putting programs in place that would attract students into this.

MR. LOKAN:  There is a reference on the next page to a specific partnership with the PWU, the Trade Up For Success program, which appears to be attempting to hit students at a younger age where they're making some basic choices that are going to define their career path.

I take it that is more of a sort of long-term effort that's going to take many years to pay off?

MS. McKELLAR:  It's targeted at students in Grade 9 and 10 in an effort to keep them in math and sciences so that later on they can get into the college programs and get into the electricity sector.

So we educate students and their parents on the importance of staying with math and science.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  Is it fair to say that all of this is reflective of a concern on the part of the corporation that it be able to meet its staffing needs into the future, given the demographic challenges?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.

MR. LOKAN:  I would like you to turn to the Hay Group study, please, which is A15, schedule 2B, and specifically page 12.

MS. McKELLAR:  I have it.

MR. LOKAN:  Now, I do appreciate that this is a more limited data set, given what's to come, as gone over in your examination-in-chief, but just looking at this one position, the power line maintainer is a position that is PWU represented of Hydro One; correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  And this particular study looked at other comparable employers, and it was a unionized position in every other comparable employer; correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  Just looking at the top line here, the adjusted minimum hourly wage rate for this position was, according to this study, 30 percent below the average?

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. LOKAN:  And it's pointed out that by the time you get to the top, the maximum hourly wage rate is 12 percent above.

But I was also interested in the number of steps and the length of time that it takes to get there.  Am I interpreting this correctly that at Hydro One, there are more steps and it takes substantially longer than the average to get to the maximum?  I see an average of 41 months and five steps.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's what this says.

MR. LOKAN:  Whereas at Hydro One it is 72 months and nine steps to get to the maximum?

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. LOKAN:  Wouldn't this raise concerns that with this structure you're going to find it difficult to recruit; that is, if you're below market at the bottom end, where people are coming in out of colleges and programs, that it's going to be difficult to attract the people you need?

MS. McKELLAR:  For this particular program, and we do bring -- we do bring people in at early ages.  No, we have not had trouble recruiting.  It is a very technical and very long training program that lasts five to six years to get to the top step.  I would prefer to say we grow our own.  Because it is an integrated transmission and distribution system, we tend to get people in at the very beginning of the apprenticeship program through the hiring hall and they work through the various steps.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay, thank you.  It is also concluded in this study that the overtime policies and eligibility seem generally similar among the various utilities that were studied; correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. LOKAN:  I see, even, that there is a market survey participant that has a second level overtime at three times standard rates, which is more than at Hydro One; correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.

I have a couple of questions about the pension costs.  These are discussed at high level in schedule C1, tab 3 -- sorry.  Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.

MR. LOKAN:  I am looking at appendix A, page 3 of 4.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.

MR. LOKAN:  It looks like since -- I guess this is between actuarial valuations.  There has been an increase in the pension costs, annual increase of about 23 million.  Am I understanding that correctly?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  And the drivers for that, as I understand it, are, first and foremost, assumption changes, and then, to a lesser extent, staff growth?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  There's a bit of an offset, because the assets over that period did better than expected; correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  And that's all detailed in the actuarial valuation, but just to understand what's meant by the actuarial assumptions, the changes in assumptions, is it things like the different inflation rate that's factored in by the actuaries?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  And also different mortality tables that actuaries tell us we now have to use.  Apparently it's a bad news that we're all living longer?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Okay.  Yes, that's correct.  Those are two of the key assumptions.

MR. LOKAN:  And so I just want you to confirm that it's issues like that that is driving this increased cost.  It's not any ramping up or increase in the benefits available to employees; is that fair?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Part of this increase does -- is related to the increase in salaries over that period of time, since the pension plan is based on a percentage of salary.  So there is an impact of salaries.

MR. LOKAN:  As salaries go up, there will be an echo in the pension costs, if I can put it that way, but it's not like somebody is saying, Let's substantially increase the accrual rate, or something like that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, that's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  That's all been relatively stable over the past few years; is that fair?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking, yes.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  Indeed, in the case of the Society, it's gone the other way with the two-tiered structure for the pension plan?

MS. McKELLAR:  That is correct.  There is a new less provident pension plan for Society-represented staff.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.

MS. McKELLAR:  I should -- let me complete the sentence.  Who joined after 2005, November 2005.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay, thank you.

Could I ask you to turn to tab H12, schedule 20.

MS. McKELLAR:  I have it.

MR. LOKAN:  And specifically to attachment A.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.

MR. LOKAN:  Just looking at the big picture here.  This is one of the documents that breaks out costs by -- or compensation costs by representation.  So you have categories here for MCP, which is management, PWU, and Society.  Correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. LOKAN:  And you have the chart filled in for 2004 through to 2007.  And then that breakout is not available for 2008.  Is that correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MR. LOKAN:  Just looking at the PWU category, from 2004 to 2007, am I understanding this correctly that the head count has gone from 3,080 to 3,825?  That's between 2004 and 2007.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Lokan, that's what the exhibit says.

MR. LOKAN:  Right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is there a question behind that?

MR. LOKAN:  There is.  I just want to get a "subject to check" percentage between the two rows of figures.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That couldn't be handled by way of argument?  I am sensing this is really in the nature of examination-in-chief.  And according --

MR. LOKAN:  This is my last point.  Why don't I simply put the percentages, subject to check.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.

MR. LOKAN:  I certainly don't mean to try the Panel's patience.  Then the total wages are 246 million to 306 million.  By my calculation, subject to check, that was a 24.2 percent growth in the head count and 24.6 percent growth in the wage bill for the PWU category.

MS. McKELLAR:  Subject to check.  But I do want to clarify something about this table.  First of all, this represents staff head count that are on our books or on the payroll at year end only.  So I just want to make that clear that when you look at this -- so if you're looking at, for example, total wages, it represents total wages of those staff on your head count at the end of the year.  So -- just so that we understand what we're looking at.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  Is it fair to say that in the big picture, and going back to my earlier questions, then what this is reflecting, the growth in the wage bill, at least for the PWU, is increased work load; not wage escalation?

MS. McKELLAR:  I would say that primarily the increase, if you're looking at the wages, would be -- it would be a combination of the increased work program, which is outlined in the evidence and we have gone over, as well as the demographic challenge that we have where we can lose up to 40 percent of our staff by 2012, by 2012.  We take very long training times to get people competent in those jobs.  So those, in my mind, would be the two major factors driving this.

MR. LOKAN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Lokan.  Ms. Effendi, do you have any questions?

MS. EFFENDI:  Yes I, do Mr. Chairman.  I am not sure whether -- whether my colleague Mr. DeVellis wanted to start first.

MR. KAISER:  If you want to proceed, Mr. DeVellis.

MR. DeVELLIS:  If that's okay, Mr. Chairman, I will lead off.  Thank you.
Cross-examination by Mr. DeVellis:


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, Panel.  I suspect most of my questions will be for you, Ms. McKellar, with apologies to your colleagues.

MS. McKELLAR:  Oh, I'm sure they're quite all right with that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  My first question has to do with Exhibit H, tab 1, figure 71.

Actually, this may not be for you, but...

MS. McKELLAR:  It may not be for me.

MR. DeVELLIS:  It has to do with the percentage of OM&A – sorry, labour costs charged to OM&A versus capital.

MS. McKELLAR:  I am afraid that will have to be answered by my colleague.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That will be the last question he will have to answer, for me at least.

So we see, from -- in 2008, there appears to be somewhat of an increase in the percentage of your labour costs that are charged to OM&A versus capital.

In 2007, for example, you had 298.3 million versus 493 million, so about 16.5 percent.  Subject to check?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Then in 2008, you have 349.6 million, out of a total of -- well I guess, well -- I just realized 508 is not correct, is it?  It's actually 580?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Is the 349 correct though or would that change as well?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The 349 is correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Oh, okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It was just the total, the total was incorrect.  It was our error just in filing it.  It looks like we --

MR. ROGERS:  There is an update filed.  That's what we're talking about.  There is a blue page.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  June 13th.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Let me just ask you about the 508.  Was that just a correction from the original evidence?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it was just an error in our part.  The real number is 580.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, that's fine.

Now, I have to ask you about your total labour costs.  I have an exhibit that I handed out to Mr. Millar and it was sent to your counsel.  Perhaps you could just give that an exhibit number.

MR. MILLAR:  This is Exhibit K3.2 and it is a chart on Hydro One's staffing costs prepared by SEC.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  CHART ON HYDRO ONE'S STAFFING COSTS PREPARED BY SEC

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.

Okay.  If you can also turn up Exhibit -- your undertaking response that was filed this morning, J1.11.  Do you have that?

MS. McKELLAR:  That was filed this morning?  No, I don't have that, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  We have a couple of copies here.  Maybe we can assist.



MS. McKELLAR:  Thank you.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, the head count numbers -- this table was derived from your response to undertaking number 31 from our client.  That is Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 31, attachment A.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Have you had a chance to look over these numbers?

MS. McKELLAR:  Are you referring to the numbers in 
H --

MR. DeVELLIS:  No, the numbers in our exhibit.

MS. McKELLAR:  That I just received?  No, I haven't.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Not the undertaking response, the numbers that were in our Exhibit K3.2.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I have looked at those.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Gave to you yesterday.  Okay.  Can you confirm the numbers are correct as set out here?

MS. McKELLAR:  Can I confirm that your calculations are correct?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Right, yes.

MS. McKELLAR:  I have to be honest, I didn't check all of your calculations.  Subject to check, I assume you have done them correctly.

MR. DeVELLIS:  If you find a mistake, you will let us know.

MS. McKELLAR:  Right.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, are the -- looking at K3.2, these are your head count numbers.  Are they end-of-year head count or average FTE?

MS. McKELLAR:  The chart that you are referring to is year-end head count.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Year-end.  Okay.  So you have from looking at Exhibit K3.2, from 2007 total end-of-year head count 5,893 increasing to 7,079 by the end of year 2008.

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  An increase of 20 percent in a single year.

MS. McKELLAR:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  About 1,186 employees added in 2008 over 2007?

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Do you have any idea how many of these 1,100 have been hired so far?

MS. McKELLAR:  I do.  I believe -- if you bear with me, I think I actually did note down the number that we have as of May, if that would be helpful for you.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Sure.  Whatever the latest information you have.

MS. McKELLAR:  All right.  No, I would prefer to get that information for you.  I think my reference is probably...


MR. DeVELLIS:  If you could do that by way of undertaking, then?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Provide the -- actually, I was going to ask about undertaking J1.11, and maybe we can expand the undertaking, if you have the information, to break it down.  So the numbers who have been hired, using your latest information available, by the groups that are shown in the attachment to A-13-31; that is, PWU, regular salary, regular MCP, temp, and then casual.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I just have to note the table you have handed out talks about the corporate common functions and services, shared services group.


MR. ROGERS:  There's been a mistake here.  I think my friend said or we heard him J1.1.


MS. McKELLAR:  We have the wrong --


MR. ROGERS:  It's either J1.1 or J1.11.


MR. DeVELLIS:  J.11 (sic).


MS. McKELLAR:  Actually, I am pleased, because I can't make any sense out of two charts and I have to tell you I was worried about the question that was coming.  Thank you.  Now I may be better able to answer it.  Okay.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Part of my strategy is to confuse everybody.


MS. McKELLAR:  Now I see where you may be going.  All right.  Let's take another crack at this.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So you have given us a breakdown in J.11 of the projected hires by category for 2008.


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  What I am asking is if you can give us the latest information you have as to how many have been actually hired.


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  And I don't have that with me on the stand, but I can get that for you.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, great.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be undertaking J3.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  PROVIDE UPDATED NUMBERS BY CATEGORY FOR PROJECTED HIRES FOR 2008.

MR. DeVELLIS:  And now just comparing J.11 to

Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 31A.


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I note that about half of the 1,100 come from -- are going to be added as regular staff, so about 632 additional regular staff of the total of 1,186; is that right?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Then the remainder are temporary, 110 extra temporary staff, and then 444 casual?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, can you tell me -- help me as to how the decision is made whether to hire regular staff versus temporary or casual?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I can.  Perhaps I can look at my own division, which is human resources.  Each year at business planning time, we're asked to do a detailed staff buildup.  As I have already explained today, we take a work-based approach to that.


So I look at the work programs, I look at the priorities, and then I look at the staff that I have available and whether or not I can accomplish the work program with the available staff.  If not, what are my other options?  Do I bring in a temp, co-ops, interns what have you


And, in essence, although it is much larger business units -- it is a much more complex buildup, they do precisely the same thing.  I also should mention that my department provides the demographic data to each of the lines of business, so they know precisely who is eligible to retire over the next five years.  And they work with these people, so they tend to have a sense of when the person is going to retire, because, as I said, they're working with them.


So they know if somebody intends going next year or are going to work a couple more years, and they factor that in, because we have very long lead training times.  If somebody is going to go in a year, we can't hire the replacement this year.  We have to have already hired the person and be training them through apprenticeship program.


That staff buildup is done at every level.  It escalates to the executive committee, and ultimately our CEO looks at it and approves it or pushes back on it.


Does that answer the question?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, thank you.  Now, you spoke about a couple of things with Mr. Lokan.  One was the -- I think you just repeated it, how you have a work-based approach to hiring; that is, you look at the work that you're doing and you hire appropriately?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  The other theme, I guess, that is in your evidence is your demographic challenges.  So what I am trying to get at is what proportion of your total hires -- the additional 1,186 employees you're going to be hiring in 2008, what proportion of that is due to the work program and what proportion is due to your demographic issues?


MS. McKELLAR:  If I was going to give you based on my knowledge of the demographics and the number of people that have retired, I would probably say it was a 60-40 split.  Sixty would be for new work program growth and 40 would be for attrition, the demographics term.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, okay, 60 percent for new program and 40 percent for?


MS. McKELLAR:  Attrition, if you will.  However, as I said, remember this is on a line-by-line business basis.


What I have in human resources may not necessarily be reflective, but I would say 60-40 would be reasonable.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I would like to add that from the asset management perspective, that -- I was witness on panel 1, my percentages in asset management are very similar to the numbers Ms. McKellar just noted.


MR. DeVELLIS:  When you say attrition, you don't mean people who are actually retiring this year that you are replacing; you mean people that you anticipate will be retiring in whatever number of years that you are hiring to replace this year?


MS. McKELLAR:  Some of it is this year and some of it, correct, is the next four years out.


We -- as I said, 40 percent can go by 2012.  So for all of our jobs, we have to be hiring today in order to have them ready for 2012.


MR. DeVELLIS:  That means in the interim, before the people you anticipate will be retiring actually retire and during the interim period where you have the people you hire now in anticipation of those people who will retire, you have essentially double staff --


MS. McKELLAR:  No, we don't.


MR. DeVELLIS:  -- or duties?


MS. McKELLAR:  No, we don't.  For the bulk of those hirings, you have to remember they're coming in through the hiring hall, which is our apprenticeship program.  They're not on our benefit or pension programs.  If we don't need hiring hall staff, we don't need them.


There is work to do.  The way the program is set out, they do -- it goes up in increments of about 20 percent of the job per year, because it's a very complex job.


And so they are doing real work.  In fact, it works out for us, because they're working on things which would be more cost-effective to have a junior person work on than an experienced journey person lineman.  So they're doing work which is appropriate with a skill set.  So we can use our more experienced people to do the more complex work.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So you have a specifically identified apprenticeship program?


MS. McKELLAR:  Absolutely.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I didn't see that in the evidence in terms of -- are there numbers for that program, sort of 2008 versus 2007?


MS. McKELLAR:  I have -- I don't know whether it is -- I don't have information of what our past hiring has been in each of our seven apprenticeship programs going back to 2000 -- I could go to 2004 to show you what we've got.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Would that include this year or projecting for 2007 and 2008?


MS. McKELLAR:  I have that information.  I don't have it with me on the stand, but I do track that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Maybe you could do that by way of undertaking?


MS. McKELLAR:  What exactly is it?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I guess whatever figures you have in terms of total staff or the budget for the apprenticeship program.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, how is this -- I want to be helpful, but I am not clear how this is going to help us deal with the 2008 rates.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, Mr. DeVellis?


MR. DeVELLIS:  We're trying to get a handle on what proportion of the increased total wages in 2008 is due to expanded work programs versus what is due to sort of hiring in anticipation of retirements.  So --


MS. McKELLAR:  The other thing that I think is important to remember, it is an integrated work force.  When I give you these numbers, I'm giving you total wages and numbers for all of Hydro One, which is transmission and distribution, because we don't separate staff who are not dedicated.  So I'm not really sure how that is --


MR. DeVELLIS:  You don't break it down by distribution?


MS. McKELLAR:  No, we do not have staff dedicated to distribution and transmission.  It is an integrated great work force.  Everything I put before you deals with that integrated work force.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Why don't I try it this way?  The next question I was going to ask had to do with what you said about hiring on a sort of work demand basis.


So of your total -- your increased employees for 2008, are you able to map that for us in terms of which -- how many employees are dedicated to sort of your sustainment function, development operations, et cetera?


MS. McKELLAR:  If you give me a moment, please?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KAISER:  How does that help us, Mr. DeVellis, if we break it down between development and sustainment?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Again, the statement has been made that the company hires on a resource-needed basis.  In other words, they project a number of -- what their work program is going to be in the year and they hire accordingly.  So we're trying to, again, ferret out, first of all, where those employees are going to be, so that we can track whether in fact that is the case, and also to compare that aspect of the hiring versus hiring for demographic issues.


MR. KAISER:  I don't see how the two are related.  If they break it out between developmental and sustainment, how does that tell you which has to do with demographics and which --


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, it is hard to tell from the evidence, because --


MR. KAISER:  Why don't we just ask them if they can, looking at your table, tell them what percentage of that relates to essentially replacing workers that are going to be retiring in that year.  I take it that is your question, is it?

MR. DeVELLIS:  That was my question I asked already.  What I am trying to get -- what I am trying to get at more specifically, I guess, is to track how many new employees are being hired, versus what the expanded work program is.

In other words, it's an issue of productivity, I suppose, as in, you know, we know that, for example, certain work programs are increasing like the vegetation management, or other work programs.  But we don't know how many new employees are directed to those programs.  So it's hard for us to track whether those programs are being more efficient or less efficient.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  I think you know where Mr. DeVellis is going.  Can you be of any assistance?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KAISER:  You recognize the point submitted by the witness, that this is combined transmission and distribution?  I don't know how much it is going to help us with respect to the rates in this case, but...

MR. DeVELLIS:  No, I recognize that problem.  But I mean, the point was made that you hire, you look at your work that you are projecting to do and you hire accordingly.  

So therefore, you must have an idea if you are planning on expanding your vegetation management program, for example, or your smart meters or Cornerstone project --

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS: -- that you have all of these projects in mind; therefore, you're hiring for those projects.  So you must have a breakdown of how many people you will need for each of those projects.  That's what I'm trying to get at.  Since that –- you say that's the number that feeds into your project hires.

MS. McKELLAR:  It is.  But the problem I am struggling with, it is an integrated work force.  So if I take back my own example of my own employees that work for me, they could be working on –- now they are shared services, but they could be working on something that relates to distribution or they could be working on something that relates to transmission, depending on what projects they're working on.  At a very high level, we could probably do lines of business.  I would have to think about what I can get.

MR. ROGERS:  Can I take -- it is difficult, I know from past experience.  But let me see what might be provided to try and answer this.

MR. KAISER:  I think that might be best.  Give it some thought and we may get there quicker, Mr. DeVellis.  They can come back and tell you what they can do, if they can do anything.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you like a placeholder for an undertaking?

MR. KAISER:  Sure, placeholder will be fine.

MR. MILLAR:  J3.5.  So we're clear, maybe Mr. Rogers you could tell us what you think you're doing.

MR. ROGERS:  That's part of the problem; I'm not sure what the request is.  What I want to do is look at it, talk to the witnesses.  I generally understand the drift of it. I think it is to provide additional information to explain the drivers behind increased --

MR. DeVELLIS:  Linking the additional hires to specific work programs.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5:  TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION RELATED TO ADDITIONAL HIRES FOR SPECIFIC WORK PROGRAMS

MR. ROGERS:  Once again, a very long title but we will try to do our best.

MR. DeVELLIS:  If you could turn now to Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 2.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I think Mr. Lokan directed you to this exhibit as well.  I just have a few additional questions.

In table 1 on page 6, you characterize this as gross cost savings from the various efficiency exercises.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you explain what that means?  Are there costs involved in achieving these savings that would be deducted from the actual savings?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, there would be costs that would be incurred in terms of achieving these savings.

In addition, by "gross" we mean this is kind of a -- the savings in any given year.  This isn't a cumulative number.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's what you mean by "gross"?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But you mentioned some costs.  Would they be nominal costs?  Would they be...

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly the costs associated with achieving these savings is far less than the savings we achieved.  I don't have that information readily available, but, yes, it would be nominal.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Now page 7, the first bullet point, I think Mr. Lokan actually directed you to this bullet point.  You mention in the last sentence opportunity to achieve greater economies of scales as your work program grows.  I just wonder how that's been factored into your budgeting.  We saw, from the last day, for example, that your per unit costs for vegetation management -- this is just an example, were 6,144 in 2008, versus 5,792 in 2006, an 8 percent increase in two years.

I asked questions about, well, aren't there economies of scale built in as you increase your work program, because it seems like the per unit cost is going the other direction.

So I wonder if you can comment on that and how the economies of scale were built into your projection -- projected labour costs for 2008.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly, yes, I can talk to this.

There are several opportunities that present themselves to Hydro One with respect to gaining economies of scale both in 2008 and going forward.

We're looking at greater opportunities for outsourcing.  Materials is one of the areas where the projected need of materials is going to grow substantially over the foreseeable future so we're looking for opportunities to get into strategic supplier initiative arrangements and also do some outsourcing.

We're also looking at turnkey opportunities.  Opportunities where we can have people take on a project from beginning to end on our behalf and provide some flexibility and provide some economies in that regard.

Also, I think as Ms. McKellar was talking about earlier, the larger work program requires a larger overall resource base to deal with the larger work program, and we're achieving some flexibilities and some synergies and some economies of scale as a result of the way we're utilizing the hiring hall and other temporary work forces.  Those are a couple of examples.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You would agree with me, though, that at least with respect to the vegetation management, that was just an example, but those don't seem to be showing up; that your per unit costs are actually increasing instead of decreasing.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  I don't want to interrupt, but there was a line of questioning with the witness about that, who explained that those costs vary dramatically depending on the geographical location of where you are doing the brush clearing, and so on.  So it is perhaps not the best example.  But with that caveat, I have no objection.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Fair enough.  I was just using that as an example.  But at least in that example, they don't seem to be showing up -– certainly efficiency improvements or productivity don't seem to showing up in your per unit costs.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I would just have to rely on the evidence provided yesterday by Mr. Coulis and Mr. Juhn in this regard.

MR. DeVELLIS:  On Page 9 of that same exhibit, you have a table showing the increase in total work program versus your increase in staff.  You make the point that the increase in expenditures is growing as a faster rate than the increase in staff.

But I am just wondering why is that a good measure of productivity?  Your increase in expenditures could increase for various reasons, increase in material costs for example.  So why would that be a good measure of productivity?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think, if you take a look at the table and you take a look at the last sentence in the paragraph under the table, it indicates this is an indication that Hydro One is getting more work done without a corresponding increase in resource levels.

I think we're quite prepared to admit that this is not the only measure of productivity, and that there are other measures of productivity that need to be taken into account if you're to get a good handle on how productive a company is being.

Hydro One's approach and our findings through various participations in groups like CIGRE and CEA is that there isn't one magic bullet in terms of a productivity measure.  We have found that to be the case, as well, in our benchmarking work and our internal work.


So we provided it as an indication.  There are other indicators of productivity, and we feel the balanced score card approach that we have to measuring our progress towards our strategic goals is kind of the best approach in capturing all of the elements of productivity.  


So you are right it is just an indicator.  It is not the best indicator.  It is an indicator, and we just thought we should provide it.


The Board had asked us in the transmission filing actually to provide some indicators, where possible, so this is partly a response to that, as well.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I have a couple of questions on the benchmarking studies that you have produced.  The first one is the Hay Group study.  That is at Exhibit A, tab 15, schedule 2, attachment B.


MS. McKELLAR:  I have that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  The first question I have is with respect to page 7.  I am not sure if you are able to answer these questions or not.  I wonder if you can walk me through what the Hay Group has done in terms of their adjustments.


So I understand what they have done generally is that they've tried to normalize, I guess, your positions, whatever positions they were comparing versus the comparator companies.


So they have assigned each of those or each position a number of points.  They call it Hay points.  And that's supposed to reflect the skill set of the particular position?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  The Hay methodology uses three main -- they say four, but really it is three main factors - it is know-how, problem solving and accountability - when they assess these jobs.  So those are the three factors they're using to establish Hay points.  


They get a price, a dollar amount per Hay point.  They compare it to the Hydro One job and they come up with, then, what the hourly rate is for an equivalent job.


In fact, I did answer an interrogatory on that.  I thought I had explained the methodology, but perhaps it wasn't clear.  It was H13-35.  And I walked through an example in order to illustrate how they come up with the end dollar amount for the job.


MR. DeVELLIS:  That was one of ours so --


MS. McKELLAR:  There you go.


MR. DeVELLIS.  -- I did look at it.


Right.  Actually, what I was trying to get at, I didn't understand the calculation.  So, for example, if you look at the one on the example for A, you go from the maximum hourly wage rate.  The unadjusted amount is $50.22.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. DeVellis, where are you reading from?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry, back to the Hay Group study, A15, schedule 2, attachment B.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Which page?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Page 7.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And so the unadjusted amount for participant A, the maximum hourly rate is $50.22?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Then the adjusted maximum hourly rate is $54.61, which is an 8.7 percent increase.  So how do you get from 50 to 54?  When I multiplied it, it came back to...


MS. McKELLAR:  Now, this may be confusing to try to explain orally, but let me take a shot at it.  If you look at participant B, for example, because that's the one I looked at when I checked this, they have 450 Hay points assigned.  That means when Hay looks at the three factors, they say that job is worth 450 points.  


You divide that into the maximum hourly wage rate, which is the rate they're currently paying.  If you look at participant B, that is $60.63.  You get 0.135.  You then multiply 0.135 times 510, which is the Hydro One rating, Hay points assigned, and you come up with $68.71 in this case.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.


MS. McKELLAR:  Does that help?


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's where I was going wrong.  You multiply by the 510 for Hydro One?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's right.  Then you get, then, what their maximum hourly wage rate would be for a comparable job.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.


Then -- okay, I see.


So if we go to number -- page 10, that is the field operations manager.  Is this an MCP position?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is.  It is a band 7 manager.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Is that why the number of steps to wage rate is zero for this one?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  There is just one flat --


MS. McKELLAR:  No.  There is a range.  There is a range of pay levels within this.  We have broad bands for manager jobs.  But there aren't steps, per se, if you will.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So someone is hired at a particular band.  It's an entry level band, and then you move up?


MS. McKELLAR:  This is a band 7, which is basically our first line management position in the field, and there is a pay range.  The band has a pay range associated with this.  From -- we would say developmental, competent and expert.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So it's not an automatic increase as you go from one year to the next?


MS. McKELLAR:  Absolutely not, no, no.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.


MS. McKELLAR:  I can say we wish, but, no, that would be inappropriate.  Absolutely no automatic increases.


MR. ROGERS:  Just answer the questions.


MS. McKELLAR:  Don't put in my editorial comments.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And if we wanted to get the unadjusted, if you look at the comparator group, the unadjusted values for these groups, you would reverse the calculation you just explained?


MS. McKELLAR:  Would we reverse the calculation?


MR. DeVELLIS:  The average of the comparator groups is 62.96?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And their Hay points, the average number of Hay points is 491 versus 543 for Hydro One?


MS. McKELLAR:  Right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So we can get, using -- I have to work out the calculation, but you would be able to get the unadjusted number based on the information that is here?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, all right.  So the -- Hay Group's conclusions that your salaries are sort of in line with the comparator groups, that depends on their interpretation, I guess, or their classification of your job classifications versus the comparator groups, the number of points that they assign to each relative to Hydro One?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's right, using their methodology.  We do, however, use Hay methodology to rate all of our management jobs.  We're currently using Hay methodology.


MR. DeVELLIS:  It's not a raw comparison, though.  It's like looking at one of your field managers versus a field manager for other participants.  It is your field manager versus the adjusted value of the market participants?


MS. McKELLAR:  They tried to find comparable jobs in terms of scope and complexity elsewhere, and then they adjusted where they couldn't find it, but they tried to find comparable jobs, is what I would say, given what we gave them as a description.  And they do rate our jobs, so they were very familiar with our jobs.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is the Hay system a proprietary system you pay a royalty for?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct, yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I just have a couple of questions on the PA study, and that's at attachment A to the same exhibit, A, tab 15, schedule 2.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  If you go to slides 38 -- slides C38 to 40.


So slides C38 and 39 compare specific functions as opposed to the previous slides that would compare at your total sustaining costs per megawatt or per customer.  These are sort of just specific -- specific functions, tree-trimming per tree; is that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  For these functions, you say Hydro One is well above the comparator groups?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And can you explain that for us?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  If I can take you back to the body of the study.  So one of the -- if you take a look at the study at page 421, under the section where they talk about meter reading and tree-trimming, they talk about an opportunity for Hydro One to improve the overall costs for tree-trimming.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I've got it, yes.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Page 421 of the PA study.


MR. ROGERS:  You have to go back from the slides.


MR. DeVELLIS:  4-21.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  My apologies, 4-21.


So if you take a look at the comment from the PA Consulting Group they said -- the paragraph before goes on to talk about the tree densities, the geography, the weather patterns that are faced by Hydro One Distribution, and talks about how unique and different and hard to make comparable because of those reasons.

However it does go on to say:
"The above comments notwithstanding, it would appear there is an opportunity to improve the overall the tree-trimming costs for Hydro One."


So Hydro One acknowledges this.  This is an example of doing benchmarking that points out an area where we need to make improvements.

So Hydro One has accepted this finding, has accepted this as pointing out something in an area where we agree, all other things being equal, you would think the costs of tree-trimming would be the same.

So we need to investigate further our practices and also compare them to the comparator groups to see what is it about what they're doing, that we're not doing.  Perhaps there is something in the -- perhaps there's something in the benchmark methodology, perhaps, but more importantly, we would like to be able to learn from best practices and be able to implement those best practices.

I think this is clearly an example of where Hydro One can benefit from benchmarking work.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's what I was going to ask you about the next line as well because the next line C-40, that's towards the end of the exhibit.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Tree-trimming expenses per kilometre trimmed.  And this is in your 2006 – sorry, 2004 to 2006, this is a one-year value.  2006.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.

MR. DeVELLIS:  You're near the top in terms of the comparators.  But for 2008, we heard the other day that this value is now $6,144 per kilometre.  So that's 40 percent higher than –- 
MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.


MR. DeVELLIS: -- and unless the other groups have also increased by 40 percent now you would actually be substantially higher than the other groups.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Well, without having the comparative 2008 information, I can't make any judgments on your assertion.

However, one of the things that the PA Consulting group did indicate and once again it is on page 4-21, the second to last paragraph before the summary, they talked about the optimum tree-trimming cycle, and I know there was a discussion at great length with panel 2 on this item.

I think Hydro One wants to take a look at the relationship between changing the tree-trimming cycle and some of these other indicators.  It could be that there actually is a connection.  On the surface, one would not necessarily think there is, but Hydro One needs to investigate, to the extent that we move to a shorter tree-trimming cycle, that perhaps that will have some impact on these indicators as well.

Once again, it is an item that we take from the study and are definitely working with -- Mr. Juhn and Mr. Coulis, in particular, are very familiar with these results and are taking a look at kind of some of the reasons and lessons learned from it.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

MR. KAISER:  Ms. Effendi.
Cross-examination by Ms. Effendi:


MS. EFFENDI:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Good morning, panel.  My name is Nadia Effendi.  I am counsel for the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

The first part of my question will be related to human resources and compensation so I think they will be addressed to you.

MS. McKELLAR:  Okay.

MS. EFFENDI:  If I can turn your attention to Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2.

I would just like to get some confirmation about some comparisons, if we look at that table.  Maybe also what you could do is, if you want to keep that page in front of you and also have nearby Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 70.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I have it.

MS. EFFENDI:  Thank you.  So if we look at Exhibit C1, I understand that – actually, probably Exhibit H, sorry about that.  I understand that the 2006 Board-approved amount for total wages was $430 million; is that correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MS. EFFENDI:  I understand that the 2006 actual figure for total wages was 459.3 million.

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MS. EFFENDI:  And Hydro One is now asking for approval by the Board for the 2008 budget in the amount of $580.7 million.

MS. McKELLAR:  Okay, now.  I am glad you brought that up.

These payroll charts which are contained in my evidence are not in line are with the revenue requirement for a number of reasons.

They are representative of the head count that is at Hydro One at year end only.  So it is not going to line up with our revenue requirement as is put forward.  That would be contained in the work program buildup and you would see it elsewhere in the evidence.

So I just wanted to make that point, that if you are looking at trying to line this up exactly --


MS. EFFENDI:  I am just trying to look at some comparison to see the increase in the different years.

MS. McKELLAR:  Okay.

MS. EFFENDI:  So I was going to basically ask you, it seems to me that when we compare the 2008 budget to that of the 2006 Board-approved number, subject to check, we're looking at an increase of 35 percent.

MS. McKELLAR:  Subject to check, yes.

MS. EFFENDI:  If we look at the -- then if we do the comparison between the 2008 budget number once again, and the actual 2006 figure, once again, subject to check, it looks, if my calculations are correct, that it would be an increase of 26 percent.

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MS. EFFENDI:  If I can now turn your attention to Exhibit H, tab 12, schedule 20.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I have it.

MS. EFFENDI:  And that would be attachment A, please.

MS. McKELLAR:  I have it.

MS. EFFENDI:  If you could also turn up Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 31, attachment A, which is another table.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is.

MS. EFFENDI:  I am just wondering, I just need some clarification.  I believe that these two tables have the same figures.  There might be some variations, a couple of dollars at some places, but it seems to me that they're pretty much the same amount that we have in both.

MS. McKELLAR:  I haven't compared them.  They may be.  They were asked -- the intervenors, and I believe you were one of them, asked for the information in different formats and so there may be some differences based on how you asked us to complete the tables.

MS. EFFENDI:  Okay, fair enough.

If we look at H12-20, attachment A, and that might be an easy question - if you can bear with me - and I think you have mentioned that earlier when answering questions by my colleagues.  But when you were looking at the table and we have total number of employees, you indicated that that's the head count at the end of the year; is that correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MS. EFFENDI:  Okay.  So would that be equivalent to FTEs?

MS. McKELLAR:  No, it would not be.

MS. EFFENDI:  Okay.

MS. McKELLAR:  Our system that we use and PeopleSoft does not track FTEs.  We're able to derive head count only, and it is presented in the same fashion we presented the last two hearing data.  So there is some consistency over what we have presented in the distribution and the transmission hearings.

MS. EFFENDI:  So if I were to ask then for the FTEs, that that data would not be available?

MS. McKELLAR:  We don't have the ability to extract it from our PeopleSoft system.

MS. EFFENDI:  Okay.  Looking back at the table, in 2006 Hydro One, if I look at the total number of employees, had 5,301 employees for a total wages of $459,324,903.

MS. McKELLAR:  At year end, yes, that's correct.

MS. EFFENDI:  For 2008, Hydro One is asking the approval for 7,079 employees at year end.

MS. McKELLAR:  It's a projection, yes.

MS. EFFENDI:  And for also total wages projection of $580,700,000.

MS. McKELLAR:  As a projection only.  As I said, this does not line up with the revenue requirement.  It is a projection that we have done to be illustrative in terms of end of year.


MS. EFFENDI:  Okay.  Well, once again, if we were to compare the 2008 employees to the 2006 total employees, subject to check, it looks like we have an increase of about 25 percent.


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MS. EFFENDI:  In terms of examining and comparing the total wages for 2008 to that of 2006, subject to check, it appears that we have a 26 percent increase.


MS. McKELLAR:  Subject to check.


MS. EFFENDI:  I'm just going to -- just for the record, if we do the same comparison for 2007 to 2008, in 2007 the total number of employees was 5,893; is that correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  Year end, yes.


MS. EFFENDI:  And that was for a total wages at year end of $495,526,000?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MS. EFFENDI:  Once again, subject to check, it appears that comparing the 2008 forecast total number of employees to that of 2007, we're looking at about a 20 percent increase in numbers of employees, approximately, or 1,186 employees?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MS. EFFENDI:  If we do the same comparison for total wages between 2007 and 2008, we're looking at an approximately 17 percent increase, subject to check?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MS. EFFENDI:  Thank you.


I just want to have a confirmation, but I think that was already provided, Mr. Rogers, the breakdown for the 2008 year between casual, regular and temp.  I think that was undertaking J1.11; am I correct?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. EFFENDI:  Okay, thank you.


If I could ask you to turn now to Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 71.


MS. McKELLAR:  H1-71?


MS. EFFENDI:  Yes, H1-71.  I believe Mr. Van Dusen spoke about this table earlier this morning.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This is the updated table, June 13th.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, correct.  Yes, I have that.


MS. EFFENDI:  The copy I have is April 4th.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  It was subsequently updated on June 13th, 2008, but I could tell you the only thing that changed, the 2008 test year total number --


MS. EFFENDI:  Yes, 580?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  580.7, yes.


MS. EFFENDI:  Okay, perfect.  That's all I wanted to know.  Perfect.  Thank you.


If we look at this table, I understand the 2006 approved amount for OM&A, in terms of total employee costs, was $263.4 million?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.


MS. EFFENDI:  The 2006 actual figure for OM&A for employee costs was $281.4 million?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.


MS. EFFENDI:  Can you explain to us why the actual 2006 amount was more than the Board-approved amount?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  There is an exhibit filed which talks about the differences in the Board-approved levels and the actual levels.  I will get you a reference number for that in a minute.


As part of Exhibit A2-2, the financial summary, we provided at the Board's request a comparison between the 2006 actuals and 2006 approved levels with high-level explanations.


MS. EFFENDI:  If you can just give me one minute, please?


MR. ROGERS:  Where is that again?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 2, the financial summary.  As part of the financial summary, we provided a comparison between the 2006 actuals and the 2006 Board-approved levels.  This is predominantly across all of the revenue requirement components.


MS. EFFENDI:  Are you able, just for the purpose of the OM&A for employee costs, just give us an idea why there is this difference?  Can you pinpoint exactly...


MR. VAN DUSEN:  To the extent that the overall OM&A level -- just one second, please.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Thank you.  Sorry for the delay.


MS. EFFENDI:  That's okay.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  At the bottom line, you can see that the actual 2006 total OM&A of 404 was less than the Board approved.


However, much of the change occurs in the shared services and other costs, and I believe that has to do with the Board's approval in that proceeding to allow us to recover pension costs.


So if one were to ignore, for the purposes of this discussion, the bottom two lines, the taxes and the shared services and other costs, and compare the true work program levels, one will see that the work program cost went up between the Board-approved level and our actual levels.


So increase in work program costs in OM&A would partly drive the increase in the -- partly drive the increase in the wages.


Similarly, if I go to the next page and look at capital expenditures, because, of course, costs get spread over both OM&A and capital not just OM&A costs, there is an increase in the actual capital expenditures versus the Board-approved levels, as well.


So between those two factors, without giving you a detailed explanation, that is, kind of cause and effect.


MS. EFFENDI:  Okay, thank you.


If we now look at the year 2007, I understand that the actual amount of employee cost attributed to OM&A for that year was $298.3 million.  That was, sorry, Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 71.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, yes, I will go back to that.  Thank you, yes, we have that.  Sorry, could you repeat your question, please?


MS. EFFENDI:  I was just pointing out that the 2007 actual number attributed to employee costs in the OM&A section was $298.3 million.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.


MS. EFFENDI:  If we do a comparison between the 2006 and the 2007 employee costs attributed to OM&A, subject to check, it appears that there is an increase by 6 percent?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Subject to check, yes.


MS. EFFENDI:  If we were to now compare the 2008 forecast number for OM&A for total employee costs of 349.6 to the year 2007, it appears that there is an increase of 17 percent, subject to check.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, subject to check, I accept that.


MS. EFFENDI:  Is there a reason why, from -- there's -- as we mentioned, 2006 to 2007, the increase was only by 6 percent and now we're looking at a 17 percent increase for the 2008 forecast year?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I think it has to do with just the totals.  The total Hydro One wages go up from only 459 to 495.  So that increases $35, $36 million in total wages, and yet the increase in total wages from 2007 to 2008 goes from 495 to 580, so an increase of roughly 85 million.


So the differences in those two numbers would explain the percentage changes.


MS. EFFENDI:  Thank you.  If we now examine the capital line.  I understand the 2006 approved amount for capital was $166.6 million?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.


MS. EFFENDI:  The 2006 actual figure for capital was $177.9 million?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, correct.


MS. EFFENDI:  The 2007 actual number for capital was $197.2 million?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, correct.


MS. EFFENDI:  It appears now Hydro One is asking for approval for the 2008 budget year of $231.1 million?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.  However, let me remind you.

This is wage costs, and the attribution of wage costs to OM&A and capital, to the extent that the work-based activity planning has shown an increase in the work that needs to be completed and the resources have been changed accordingly, one would expect to see a change in these numbers.

MS. EFFENDI:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Effendi, just a note.  It's not particularly helpful for us to simply have these percentages recited.

They flow from the evidence and they can be argued, without -- they're in the evidence.  So that comparison can be made at any time for your argument, for example.

What is of interest to us, and what is important, is the -- is what drives those changes, what is in behind those.  And what is the cause and effect relationship.  Not the percentage changes per se.

MS. EFFENDI:  Thank you, Mr. Sommerville.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. EFFENDI:  If I can now turn your attention to Exhibit H, tab, 1, schedule 71.

MS. McKELLAR:  I'm sorry.  Did you say H1-71?

MS. EFFENDI:  Sorry.  I apologize for that.  H1, schedule -- just give me a minute here.  H12-20,
attachment A.

MS. McKELLAR:  Okay.  Yes, I have that.

MS. EFFENDI:  Thank you.

I believe that my colleague, Mr. DeVellis, addressed that issue.  But I just wanted, maybe, to piggyback a bit on it and elaborate and see whether you can provide me some answers.

I understand, and please correct me if I'm wrong, but earlier we -- you confirmed to me that for the 2008 year, Hydro One is asking for 1,186 additional employees, compared to the 2007 year.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.

MS. EFFENDI:  Okay.  My question is:  Do you know how many of these new employees will be assigned to the vegetation management program?  I don't know whether -- I think it is related to the earlier question, Mr. Rogers, but I just wanted to put it on the record, whether that is something that can be obtained?  If you don't have it...

MR. ROGERS:  Let's see if the witness can answer.  I think there was some evidence it is hard to segregate them, but this may be such a discrete program that we can give some help here.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. ROGERS:  Whether this panel can do it or not, I don't know, but maybe we can undertake it.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. ROGERS:  I think Mr. Coulis did talk about that and about the hiring hall and so on.  He would know.

MS. McKELLAR:  I don't have that information with me.  I could go and I could get it, I'm sure.

MR. ROGERS:  We will undertake to do that.  I think Mr. Coulis may have that information, so -- it's the number of employees, new employees attributed to the increased line clearing and brush clearing activity.

MS. EFFENDI:  Exactly.  Maybe if I could add to that undertaking.  I don't know if that information is available, but how many employees were assigned to the vegetation management program for the years 2004 to 2007.  I'm just trying to do a comparison, Board Members, Mr. Chairman.  I am not sure whether that would be helpful but I think it might.  So if that information is available, too.

MS. McKELLAR:  Sure.

MR. ROGERS:  If it is available, we will provide it.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J3.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.6:  TO ADVISE HOW MANY EMPLOYEES WERE ASSIGNED TO THE VEGETATION MANAGEMENT PROGRAM FOR YEARS 2004 TO 2007

MS. EFFENDI:  And once again, you will probably tell me you don't have the answer but I am wondering whether, once you are able to provide me the answer, in terms of the new employees associated with the vegetation management program, to indicate whether this will be a one-time increase for that program, or whether you anticipate that it will be multi-year increase in the future years you will being looking at hiring more employees for that specific program.  I don't know whether that is something you --

MR. ROGERS:  We will include that element in it.  I'm not sure whether they will be able to give specific numbers of employees but certainly directionally I think they could do that.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  It is an eight-year cycle, as I recall, so I assume that there will be some information available about it.

MS. EFFENDI:  The same line of questioning will apply to smart meters.  I wonder if you are able to provide us how many of the new employees you are intending on hiring for 2008 that will be assigned to the smart meter program.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, that bus has left the station but I will make enquiries of the last panel.  I think Mr. Stevens perhaps would know that.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This is the perfection of the earlier undertaking.  This is going at it in reverse order, but probably effectively, I would think.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Effendi, you mean beyond the installation of smart meters, you want installation of smart meters plus all of the other activities around smart meters?

MS. EFFENDI:  Yes, absolutely.

MR. VLAHOS:  Everything?

MS. EFFENDI:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.

MS. EFFENDI:  And to be fair to the witness, I believe that an earlier witness in an earlier panel had indicated that, actually, we were going to have the former employees come in, the more experienced employees come into the smart meter programs.  Was my understanding correct?  Existing employees?

MS. McKELLAR:  I think what the witness was answering is, what our regular meter readers are doing are the installation and our hiring hall meters that we pay less to are doing the meter reading because we pay them less and it is not as complex a job.  I think that was the gist of -- when I read the transcript.

MS. EFFENDI:  Just so we're clear.

MR. KAISER:  They weren't necessarily new employees.  They were old employees moving to a new job?

MS. EFFENDI:  Mr. Chairman, I think I am looking to try to find out how many new employees are going to be assigned or are going to be hired, because of the new smart meter program.

So whether it is because the new employees are will be going to the old smart meters, it is still a consequence of the smart meter program.  So if I could obtain that information.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I don't know that there will be -- in terms of total number of employees, but I understand the drift of the question and an answer will be provided.

MS. EFFENDI:  Thank you.

I think that my colleague, Mr. DeVellis, had already asked and there is an undertaking to provide us, out of the 1,186 new employees, how many have been actually hired as of this date.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  I believe that is an undertaking we have.

MS. EFFENDI:  Can you answer whether or not, do you know whether or not all of them have been hired or whether only a portion have been hire as of this date?

MS. McKELLAR:  Of the 779?  What number are you referring to?

MS. EFFENDI:  I am referring to the 1,186, which is basically --

MS. McKELLAR:  The difference?

MS. EFFENDI: -- the difference between –-


MS. McKELLAR:  No, they have not all been hired, but a significant portion have.  When I last checked our records, we hired several hundred but I will get that exact figure for you.

MS. EFFENDI:  Okay.  If not all of the 1,186 employees -- we're now six-and-a-half months into the year -- wouldn't you agree any costs associated with the compensation of these new employees, that still need to be hired, would not require the full amount that you are seeking now in your application?

MS. McKELLAR:  No.  I think that goes back to the point I was trying to make, and perhaps I wasn't doing a very good job of it.  We have a work-based approach to our budget buildup.  What that means -- as we look at the work program, how we're going to get the work done, and which staff are going to do it, and we cost it accordingly.  We don't do a resource-based approach where we say we have a number of staff, they cost this much, and we're going to have them here for 12 months.

So the costs will flow from the work program buildup and they will still reflect the monies being spent on the work programs.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  To the extent that Hydro One needs to retain additional hiring hall, additional casuals, contract consulting, help to the extent that that needs to be retained to ensure that the key work program gets undertaken, we do, we take those actions.

MR. KAISER:  Do these numbers that we're discussing include the hiring hall?  Or not?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, they do.

MS. EFFENDI:  The rest of my questions now will address the Cornerstone project.  You will get a chance to speak.

I should have mentioned earlier, Board Members, that we have spoken to Mr. Warren, who unfortunately is tied up and could not come today, but we have discussed the matters with him and hopefully the rest of my cross-examination will address some of the issues that CCC had.


So if you could please turn up Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 5?


MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I have that exhibit.


MS. EFFENDI:  I am looking specifically at page 16.


MR. CURTIS:  Yes.


MS. EFFENDI:  I understand that Hydro One is asking for $28 million capital expenditure for the Cornerstone project for the budget year 2008?


MR. CURTIS:  For the distribution side, yes.


MS. EFFENDI:  Yes.


MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.


MS. EFFENDI:  Is my understanding correct that Hydro One has forecasted no efficiency gains in relation to the Cornerstone project in 2008?


MR. CURTIS:  There is a small amount of efficiency gain that had been forecast.  However, this would be offset by some of the teething costs for bringing Cornerstone in.  So both of those would be reflected in the application.


MS. EFFENDI:  Looking at page 21 of that exhibit, I understand that Hydro One has forecasted cost efficiency gains equal to $200 million for the phase 1 over the period of 2009 to 2015?


MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.


MS. EFFENDI:  Could you advise what portion of these gains is attributed to transmission rather than distribution?


MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  The total out of the 200 million, there's 59 million that's attributed to distribution and $161 million that is attributed to transmission.


MS. EFFENDI:  How is Hydro One able to track those savings for the future years?


MR. CURTIS:  These savings will be tracked through key productivity indices and they will be monitored on a continuous basis, and the results will be reported to our board of directors.


MS. EFFENDI:  So if I understand correctly, then, Hydro One is asking for capital expenditures of $28 million in 2008 for the distribution portion, but expects that the benefits to accrue for distribution in the next -- will only accrue in the next seven years, that the $59 million will only be for the next seven years?


MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.  Until the application is put into service, there is no opportunity to gain benefits.


MR. ROGERS:  Can I interrupt?  I'm sorry, Ms. Effendi, but, Mr. Curtis, you said that $59 million was attributable to distribution and $161 million to transmission?


MR. CURTIS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  I don't have any --


MR. CURTIS:  I apologize.  I think it was 141.


MR. ROGERS:  141, thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That was 141 to distribution?


MR. CURTIS:  No, 141 to transmission and 59 to distribution.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.


MR. CURTIS:  I apologize.  It's difficult to subtract sometimes.


MR. ROGERS:  I know.  I would have taken physics myself if I had known I was so good.


MR. KAISER:  Then you could have got a job at Ontario Hydro.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. EFFENDI:  You have mentioned and you have confirmed that Hydro One will be tracking those savings in future years.


Will any of those savings or efficiency gains flow to the ratepayers?


MR. CURTIS:  They all flow to the ratepayers, in the sense that in future applications, our costs that we would be seeking would be lower than the amount that we're showing by the savings amount.


MS. EFFENDI:  When exactly will they flow to ratepayers?


MR. CURTIS:  They're flowing on that period from 2009 through to 2015.


MS. EFFENDI:  And during that period, do you agree that some of those savings and efficiency gains will be during the IRM period?


MR. CURTIS:  That is correct, and our assumption is that these savings would be a component of that IRM.


MS. EFFENDI:  Are you able to provide us with a breakdown of the $59 million savings for the distribution portion for each year for the period of 2009 to 2015?


MR. ROGERS:  Can that be given?  It's a forecast of course.


MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  It would be done on a forecast basis, but, yes.


MS. EFFENDI:  If I could have an undertaking for that, Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  J3.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.7:  PROVIDE BREAKDOWN OF THE $59 MILLION SAVINGS FOR DISTRIBUTION PORTION FOR EACH YEAR FOR THE PERIOD OF 2009 TO 2015.


MS. EFFENDI:  Are you able to tell us, today, Mr. Curtis, whether there is an equal flow of savings that you forecast for the next seven years?


MR. CURTIS:  No.  They ramp up, but typically in about two to three years after in-service, they reach their saturation level, if you will, and then continue on at that level.


MS. EFFENDI:  And how can ratepayers be assured that these benefits will be achieved beyond the IRM period and that they will continue to flow to them beyond the IRM period?


MR. CURTIS:  I think the ratepayers can be assured of that, because we will be putting in place these key productivity indices that will be measured continuously and would be reported back to our senior management and the board of directors.


MS. EFFENDI:  Thank you, panel members.


Those are all of my questions.


MR. KAISER:  All right, Thank you.  Mr. Rogers, would this be a convenient time to take the lunch break?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir.  If you like, I could deal with the Owen Sound matter this afternoon, if you would like, at the opening.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Do we need them here?  I guess we should give them notice.


MR. ROGERS:  I anticipated that they would be coming to address their concern here.  That's fine.  I can wait until then.  I just wanted to assure the Board that their concerns about notice have a very good explanation.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Our concern was that when the time comes to deal with this, that you would be prepared to address it chapter and verse.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir, I will be.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So that was our intention in raising it this morning.


MR. ROGERS:  I see.  I will be.  I just wanted the Board to know that the notice that was given in this case conformed with your requirements and way beyond.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If you think there is anything that those parties, who wrote to the Board on this subject, may need to have from you or may need to know prior to their appearance, you may want to make sure that they have that in hand in a timely fashion, in the normal course.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, yes, I understand.  The concern they raised I think was two-fold.  One had to do with notice, which I feel very comfortable with, that the applicant went beyond the call of duty there.  The second deals with cost allocation issues, legitimate issues, and we will deal with those.


MR. KAISER:  One question I have.  Of course, they will have a chance to hear your submissions and address this, but we know what the Board notice is.


Are there other notices that -- there's some lack of clarity in my mind and some of the Staff members' mind if there are additional notices that you put out?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Can you at some point, as soon as you can, just advise us what those were so we have the facts and we can consider this issue?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, yes.  That's exactly what happened, though.  In addition to the Board requirements, the company, because of the area of interest, did do a lot more advertising in acquired utility areas, and that's where I think the confusion may have arisen.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  We will come back in an hour.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:20 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:35 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Rogers, before we start with the panel, can we start about scheduling.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir.
Procedural matters:

MR. KAISER:  Let me just tell you what our preference is and you can all tell us what your preference is.

We're moving ahead in this case fairly quickly, which I guess is a good thing in some respects.  If we finish this panel today, which we expect we will, we would like to start back up on Tuesday, and I will tell you why.

We have had the experience before in the OPG case where we started getting ahead of schedule and we found that the intervenors weren't ready and the cross-examination suffered, and we don't want that to happen again.  We intend to keep on the schedule set out at the beginning.  I know applicant's counsel always like to do the Sherman's march to the sea, you are no doubt any different, but is that agreeable with all counsel?  Anyone object to that?

MR. ROGERS:  I will just say on behalf of the applicant, we're ready to proceed.  I mean we would like to finish the oral phase as quickly as reasonably possible but I think my client -- I was going to propose we adjourn until Monday, but if the Board prefers Tuesday then we would certainly agree with that.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Let's proceed on that basis, thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The only thing I would add is that we have been thinking about is for panel 4, is actually several topics including load forecast and CDM and then rate harmonization and rate design.  One of the things we thought about is whether it would be suitable to split the panel into two and do load forecasting and CDM first as one part of the hearing, and have all of that issue canvassed at one time, and then have the rate harmonization-rate design issues after that.

The reason we would recommend is that is it would help, again, with preparing for the panel which we had originally thought would be sometime at the end of the week, maybe.  I think it was originally on for July 22nd.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rogers, can you accommodate?  If it is too much trouble for you, that's okay.  You conceded on one.  We will give you one.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I want to cooperate and make this as efficient as possible.

I really don't -- I don't really want to split up panels if I can, because it takes more than twice as long as to go --

MR. KAISER:  It's your case.  You organized it.  We're not asking you to re-jig your witness panels.  If it's not possible easily, then don't do it.

MR. ROGERS:  It is not possible easily, but what I would suggest is, if we could -- those I think there are some intervenors who are principally interested in the CDM issues.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  There are other intervenors principally interested in the cost allocation and the rate design.  If they could identify themselves as to who has what interest and how long they would be, and let me know, then maybe we could do it that way.  If there are only a couple of people that have an interest in CDM, then maybe we could proceed that way.  I just don't want to if through the whole batting order twice.


MR. KAISER:  Let's leave it on that basis.  You discuss with Mr. Buonaguro and others and if you can reach an agreement between yourselves, that's fine with us.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  So we will assume we're starting Tuesday morning at 9:30.

MR. KAISER:  Yes, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Panel 4.

MR. ROGERS:  Panel 4.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro, it is you, I think, is it?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.
Cross-examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  I would like to start with a few questions on the Inergi contract.  If you could turn up Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 6.  This is attachment A to that exhibit.

I am looking at table 1 which is the summary of Inergi fees.  I don't think there is an actual page number.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that information.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Looking at the summary, we have the contracted fees line which for 2008 is 88.4 million.  And then different categories, managed contract reimbursement, COLA, which I believe is cost of living adjustment.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Pension and benefit fees, et cetera.  My first question has to do with the cost of living adjustment.  Looking at the figure for 2008, in what appears to be an approximately $100 million contract, you have a cost of living adjustment of $15 million which, intuitively to me, at least, seems high.

Could you explain the drivers behind the cost of living adjustment and why it would be that high relative to the previous years?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I can at one level.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, my comment is this:  This was a panel 1 topic.  Mr. Van Dusen, who was on panel 1, it just happens, if he can answer the question, fine.  He's not the appropriate witness, but if you could do it...

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I believe Mr. Struthers was the person who was tagged with witnessing the details.  I can answer some general questions on the contract and to the extent that is helpful to the Board, I will proceed.

MR. ROGERS:  Let's proceed that way.  It is probably the most efficient way to do it, if that's all right with you, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Yes, carry on.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  If I could take you to section 4.3, once again -- you're correct -- there are no page numbers in this exhibit -- section 4.3, it talks about the cost of living adjustments and talks about the COLA formulas based on Statistics Canada indices of total wages, salaries, and supplementary labour income.

All I can say in response to your question is that the COLA adjustment is part of the contract.  It's clearly defined in terms of how the adjustment works.

I am assuming both parties plugged in the numbers from the various indices that were indicated according to the contract, and this number popped out.

In terms of your direct question and why is it 14.9 and not some other number, the 14.9 would have arisen just out of the formulaic inputs.

To the extent that that is helpful, that is what I can tell you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you mentioned formula.  So it may be as simple as, for example, the Stats Can indices for 2008 being particularly high compared to the rest of the years?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am afraid I don't know the answer to your question.  I am assuming that must be the case, given that the number is higher than other years.  That would be my assumption.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I apologize for misidentifying which panel to ask these questions to.

One of the things I wanted to ask for was to be shown the calculation of the COLA for this particular year.  Perhaps I can take it as an undertaking and then it can be directed to the appropriate witness to do.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, yes.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then as part of that if they can probably position that calculation to the previous years, to explain what drives the difference between 2008 and the previous years.  I suspect there is a fairly good reason, I just don't understand it on the face of the evidence and I am sure that whoever answers the question can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J3.8.

Mr. Rogers, you understand the undertaking?
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.8:  TO PROVIDE COLA CALCULATION FOR 2008 AND EXPLAIN WHAT DRIVES THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN 2008 AND PREVIOUS YEARS

MR. MILLAR:  Or somebody does.

MR. ROGERS:  I'm not.  I understand basically.  When I read the transcript, I will know.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then the only -- I have one other question on the details of this.  On the pension and benefits – sorry, on the volume, scope and other line, there is a spike in 2007, I would call it, where the pension benefit -– sorry, the volume scope and other goes from 10.7 in 2006 to 19.1 million in 2007 and then drops back down to 12.5.

Do you happen to know the reason for that spike?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I believe the reason for the spike is discussed in section 4.5 which talks about volume, scope and other.

On lines 19 and 20, it talks about Inergi's price of base services has increased from 2006 to 2007, by about 

$8 million due to the following items, and below on lines 21 through 25, what they do is they indicate those items which would be part of the volume and scope changes for that particular year.  And to the extent that they get embedded into the contract as a change, they would appear in the 2008 numbers as part of the base contract.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, this contract is a total figure that is then allocated between distribution and transmission; is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it done in accordance with the Rudden report?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  We know, from the previous panel that the Rudden report, at least I guess Rudden is looking at the Rudden report as part of the transmission case?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would that include looking at the allocations in this particular contract?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it will.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, I have some questions in part that arise from what happened earlier today on the payroll costs.  Perhaps you can turn up Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2.  The first page of the exhibit.


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I have it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Which we already looked at today.  Now, this obviously is the updated table.  The original table, which -- I don't know if you have the original table handy, as well, or people have it in their evidence, but the original table had instead of, for example, for 2008, $580.7 million in total wages, it had 508.


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it did.  It was a clerical error and I apologize for that.  I didn't --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to be sure I understand.  When I first saw it, and then I saw the difference in the interrogatory responses, I thought maybe it was a transposition of the two numbers, the 8 going from one place to another.  But then when I look at the base amount number, which is in the next column, you have 406.4 million in the original evidence and that goes to 475.5 million in the updated evidence.


MS. McKELLAR:  Hm-hmm.


MR. BUONAGURO:  That's obviously part of the error?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  The whole line was incorrect, and, as I said, it was an error and I didn't notice it when it was submitted, my apologies, the whole line.


Actually, while we're on this chart, I do want to point out, because there were so many questions about this - and I said it, but I think it is really important to understand - it is a total one Hydro One Networks payroll chart.  It is distribution and it is transmission together.


And there have been a lot of questions about the additional staff and the payroll costs flowing from those staff, but just so that you know, we're talking transmission staff and distribution staff and the costs associated with those staff as a networks total.  So I wasn't sure I was as clear on that as I should be this morning.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that.  So the new figure, the 580.7, is across Hydro One Networks?


MS. McKELLAR:  Total Networks, that's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think I also picked up, when you are talking about it not relating to the revenue requirement, you're saying that you can't go -- if you were to break up the requested revenue requirement in this particular case and you couldn't isolate a figure of 580.7 and that's the 2008 wage cost figure -- sorry, a subset of the 580, which related to distribution.


MS. McKELLAR:  This is year end head count.  So some people who have worked at Hydro One during that year will not be -- their costs will not be contained in this figure.  It's year end.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now --


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Excuse me, sir, if I can further add, the methodology in which Hydro One costs work and gets the costs of labour and materials to the work programs and appropriately the transmission and distribution is discussed in Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 1.


So the common costs are allocated according to the Rudden methodology, as previously discussed, and then the costs that are charged to the work programs both transmission, distribution, OM&A and capital, are generically described in this exhibit.


And what we do is we charge work programs, work orders associated with the transmission work order or distribution work order, and we use the appropriate standard costing rates to get the costs to those work orders.


MR. KAISER:  If I could just follow up on something.  When you do your budgets, you must do a separate budget for transmission and distribution?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  We derive a separate transmission and distribution budget from both the allocated common costs between transmission and distribution, and then the specifically costed transmission and distribution projects.


So, in that manner, we can certainly ascertain the costs that are specifically identifiable with transmission and distribution, and then, of course, in terms of items such as the fixed assets, they are obviously definitively attributed, to a large extent, with other transmission and distribution, and the Rudden methodology actually addresses, in addition, the common assets.  And that's split between transmission and distribution.


MR. KAISER:  I am just talking about labour.  Let's just step back.


You must report to your board of directors quarterly, as most organizations do?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. KAISER:  And you say, Here's our budget for this quarter and here are our actuals, and we're over or we're under.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, we do.


MR. KAISER:  You must do that with respect to labour, and you must do that, I would suggest, separately for transmission and distribution, do you not?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, we do.  We do do it separately for transmission and distribution.


MR. KAISER:  So you have actual budgeted costs, labour costs, for transmission and distribution and you have actual -- you have budget and actuals, do you not?  How could you run the business otherwise?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sir, the way we do it is through using standard labour rates.  So what we do is we, on an actual basis, when we do work on a transmission or distribution work program, we apply the standard labour rates to the amount of time taken to produce that article, that asset or whatever we're working on.


It's in that manner that we take our total labour dollars and attribute our total labour dollars between transmission and distribution through the standard costing rates.


MR. KAISER:  So, I mean, either you know your actual labour -- the board of directors at least wants to know on a quarterly basis how these businesses are functioning, transmission as opposed to distribution.  They want to know how your labour cost actuals are tracking against their budget.  Everyone does.  Every company in the country does that.


Are you saying you have to run off and get Mr. Rudden every quarter to do a calculation to know whether your actual labour costs are tracking your budgeted?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, sir, I'm not.


We develop detailed transmission and distribution financial statements on a monthly basis and quarterly basis and report that information up to our board of directors.


But what we report to them is the program costs associated with the OM&A work program or the capital work program.  Once again, it is done on a work program basis.  It is not done on a resource basis.


MR. KAISER:  But do those actual costs -- are they reliable?  I mean, do they track your actual costs?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Oh, yes, sir, they're very --


MR. KAISER:  Because you're sort of telling the intervenors here, We don't know.  It is all bundled together.  We can't pick apart labour costs between transmission and distribution.


But how could you run these businesses if you couldn't separate them?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sir, no, I don't believe I am saying that we don't know the labour costs.  We know the labour costs in total.  The allocation methodology as approved by this Board gives us a methodology and ability to split those costs for the common costs, very specifically, the transmission and distribution.


For all of the other core work program and the core sustaining development and operations customer care work programs, we charge specific work orders.  If we're doing work orders on distribution work, on smart meters, on line clearing, we charge those specific work orders.


So we can actually identify quite specifically the costs that are going to transmission and distribution.


It's just our method of getting the labour dollars to the work program is through a standard labour cost.  We don't look at the people and add up their dollars.  These are standard labour -- standard costing approach to that


MR. KAISER:  All right.  I understand the methodology.  But at the end of the day, you do have separate labour costs, both budget and actual, for transmission and distribution?  It sounds like you even have it on a monthly basis, if not a quarterly basis.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  We don't budget on a resource basis, sir.  We budget on a work program basis, on a work basis.


So we charge the work that we're doing and allocate the costs to the work we're doing.  We don't build up the budget for the entire company based on looking at just labour and --


MR. KAISER:  So you don't look at transmission and distribution as separate businesses as some companies would?  It is not unusual for some of the companies we regulate, even though it is all in, to actually produce audited statements for different --


MR. VAN DUSEN:  We do, sir.  We produce audited statements for both transmission and distribution, and our audited statements for distribution are filed in this proceeding, and the audited statements for transmission were filed in our transmission proceeding.  So we do have audited statements.


MR. KAISER:  They must contain labour costs.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I guess the distinction I'm making, sir, and maybe I haven't been clear, I'm making the distinction between operation maintenance and administration costs, which has a high component of labour associated with it.


That is the distinction I'm making.  It is just -- we just don't take the salary dollars, I guess is -- we just don't take the salary dollars and try to budget salary dollars by each.  It is the OM&A which is budgeted very specifically.  I'm sorry if I wasn't clear, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Sorry I interrupted you, Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  No, thank you.


Well, still looking at the original and the corrected C1, tab 3, schedule 2 table, see the original -- for example, in the "other" category, it says, $21 million for other for 2007, and then carries -- it appears to carry that number forward for 2008 on a forecast basis.


Then in the corrected version, the 2007 number goes down to 13.2 million and the 2008 number goes up to 24.6 million.


Could you explain how that change came about for 2007-2008 in that category?


MS. McKELLAR:  Okay.  Well, I guess the way this chart is derived, we have to take information from a couple of different sources, and those sources balance out by the other categories.


So if you look at the asterisk, you will see that it says other is a bucket which includes moneys paid in lieu of travel time, vacation bonus, unused vacation days.


So it is -- "other" represents a bunch of payments that we would make to certain staff based on what they're allowed under their collective agreements.


We take the base wage rates from one data source and we take the total wages from another.  When they don't balance, the other can be the balancing account.


So in our human resources data warehouse, for example, if you take a leave of absence without pay for two months, your base wages will not go down.  When we draw out that information, it will still show that you were there for 12 months.  That's just the system that we use.  The total wage is an absolute number that you are paid.  So we would go in and see.  

So where there is a difference in those two systems for the purposes of this chart it is balanced out by the other.  So the "other" is not a very telling category I guess is what I'm trying to tell you.  

We were asked to put this chart together, as I said, we don't necessarily track the information in a manner which you would like to see, so the "other" is not that telling.  

So whether it has gone up or down it could simply be a balancing.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, something stuck in my head.  You said we were asked to put this chart together.  C1, tab 3, schedule 2 is the original application. 

MS. McKELLAR:  Right.  It's the filing requirements, I understand.  But given the limitations around the way we capture human resources data, we are sometimes drawing the information from a couple of different data sources, and some of these anomalies like the other category may be out of synch. 

So perhaps if you had a question about the other category specifically, I may be able to answer that.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  Well for example, the 2007 line in the chart is an actual number; is that right?  

MS. McKELLAR:  It's an actual number of monies paid in those categories at year end.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So in the "other" category for 2007 there was a change from 21 million to 13.2 million.  

MS. McKELLAR:  Right.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  So your explanation for how things shift, I can't understand how that affected an actual number.  

MS. McKELLAR:  I see what you're saying.  

Perhaps it would be helpful -- I have to admit I didn't bring the older version of the table since it was an error.  I simply brought the new one because I didn't want to be presenting inaccurate information.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am happy to take an undertaking where if you can look at the old version of the table and the new version of the table and just explain all of the individual changes and why they've -- why they happened, whether they're simple errors, whether they're errors in calculation based on other simple errors, what have you, whatever the explanation is so we understand how these numbers changed. 

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I will undertake to do that.  

MS. McKELLAR:  Sure, yes.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you. 

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J3.9.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.9:  TO LOOK AT THE OLD VERSION OF C1, TAB 3, SCHEDULE 2 AND THE NEW VERSION AND EXPLAIN ALL OF THE INDIVIDUAL CHANGES AND WHY THEY HAPPENED, WHETHER THEY'RE SIMPLE ERRORS, ERRORS IN CALCULATION BASED ON OTHER SIMPLE ERRORS

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I would like to take you to an undertaking response H12-20 which we have done today already once, I think.  Going through this table, I understand, or I remember from your earlier testimony, at least a couple of times you were very careful on a couple of points.  

One, you were pointing out these are end-of-year numbers; right?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  So, for example, for the 2008 forecast year, you have 580.7 million in total wages indicated, and 7,079 employees.  As I understand your caveats what you're saying is you're forecasting at December 31st, 2008, that's how many people you will have working for you and that's how much they will be paid.  

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's our assumption. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  That will be their salaries, sorry. 

MS. McKELLAR:  That would be the total wages for those people on head count at year end.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But -- now does that carry through for the rest of the numbers in this chart?  So for 2004, for example, all this chart really tells us is that on December 31st, 2004 you had a head count of 4,873 people and that their wages, if they're paid their whole year wage on that particular day would have been $404.23 million?  

MS. McKELLAR:  I am not sure that that's correct.  Let me restate it.  You're looking at 2004?  

MR. BUONAGURO:  For example. 

MS. McKELLAR:  December 31st, 2004, we had a total of 4,873 staff.  We went in.  We saw that to those staff we paid $404,231,000 and so forth.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  So when you say you paid them, you mean that in that year, that's what you actually paid them?  Or in that year that's what their salary is? 

MS. McKELLAR:  That's what we pay paid them in that year.  Those were their total wages in that year.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So let me understand that.  

So on December 31st, 2004, you had a head count of 4,873 people.  And in that year, you wrote cheques totalling $404.23 million in total wages? 

MS. McKELLAR:  For those people, yes.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So does that mean that the 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007 numbers are not comparable to the 2008 numbers?  

MS. McKELLAR:  What do you mean by "not comparable"?  They were done in the same manner, if that's what you're asking. 

For 2005, we had 5,078 employees at year end.  And those employees were paid $397 million.  And so forth.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Let me put it this way.  

Because -- so 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007 are all actual; right?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Actuals year end.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So even though, for 2004 to 2007 you have total number of employees and it's on a date, the fact that the wages number is specific to how much you actually paid, it doesn't matter you're using a head count versus FTEs, because it is already accounted for in your calculation of total wages, that some people may have been hired on January 1st, or pre-existing and -- 

MS. McKELLAR:  That's right. 

MR. BUONAGURO: -- for example, if the 4,873rd person on the list was hired on December 30th and hadn't received a paycheque yet, the total wages didn't go up for that person because they hadn't been paid. 

MS. McKELLAR:  It represents wages paid to that person, yes, who was on head count that year. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  But how was that possible for 2008?  You have 7,079 people projected for 2008.  And you're saying you're going to pay them $580.7 million.  

You have been very careful to tell us that they're not on FTE.  It's not an FTE basis. 

MS. McKELLAR:  It's a rough projection. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  So how do you do that calculation?  

MS. McKELLAR:  It's a very rough calculation.  I believe we looked at what the average -- what we had paid to the previous groups and extrapolated out by the number of new employees that we were adding to it and we came up with that.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I think you're telling me that you have done some sort of rough FTE analysis.  

MS. McKELLAR:  No.  We did not -- did I do a rough FTE?  No.  I would say I did not do a rough FTE analysis.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Hmm.  

MS. McKELLAR:  I wouldn't have done it, because I don't know how long, in the previous years, people who are contained in the total wages, have worked.  I didn't go in and do it for the previous years.  It is just a rough projection given the number of employees, sort of what the average rates are, what we thought the bottom line would be on this.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I guess that feeds into the other caveat you have been saying, is that the 580.7 million isn't the revenue requirement figure.  

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  First of all, it's the total figure, not just the distribution figure; right?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Well, it's an integrated work force, as we have said, and it represents people only on head count at year end and not those that have left by December 31st.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So what is the revenue requirement related figure for total wages?  

MS. McKELLAR:  That would...

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think this partly goes back to the discussion I had with the Chairman a few minutes ago.  

When you take a look at how the salary dollars get attributed to both OM&A and capital, the salary dollars, for the core work programs, sustain, operations development.  At the beginning of the year, we take a look at total billable hours.  What is the work we're going to do and what is going to be the cost of getting -- what are -- and what are the total billable hours?  What result of the hours we're going to work on the various projects?  Then we take a look at the total labour costs that we're going to have across all of the lines of businesses.  We don't distinguish between transmission and distribution at that point.  Then we build our standard costing rates.  And so we charge to the projects a standard cost rate as opposed to an actual labour dollar that person X worked on that project.  And for the common costs which are OM&A, the common costs are separated through the Rudden methodology, the transmission and distribution and, further, attributed to OM&A and capital through the overhead capitalization rate, also discussed in the Rudden methodology and witnessed by Mr. Innis on day 1.  

So that's how the labour dollars are got into the work program.  Once again, it goes back to the labour dollars that the business has, on a regular basis are reported, but they're reported through the OM&A work program and the capital work program where they got attributed, to specific projects to specific activities.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  So what I get from that, to tell you the truth, is that the wages that you pay or anticipate paying in 2008 to all of your employees, distribution and transmission, whether it's allocated -- before or after it's allocated to the two different parts.  It is all embedded in your work program budgets, and so on and so forth, but you haven't actually told me what the wages are, at least not right now.


You can't tell me, like you can for 2007, how much you're going to pay in wages, because you haven't broken it out that way?


MS. McKELLAR:  I think if you're interested in what the increased costs would be, there is evidence which goes to what the labour escalation factors are for Society-represented staff and Power Workers' Union staff, and I believe that is contained in the evidence that --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I actually have some questions about that, as it turns out.


But, I mean, if you look at the actual interrogatory and you showed that we -- it was a VECC interrogatory, and you showed an example of what we were looking for.


You may notice or may have noticed that in the example, and, if I'm not mistaken, I think the example is from Toronto Hydro, everything is done on an FTE basis, and they can actually tell us how much their wages are going to be paid.


MS. McKELLAR:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  They have the breakdown of different categories of employee.  So we can figure out, from that, what the average wage per employee is for a particular category of employee and see how that relates year over year.


And what you're telling me is that at least from an intervenors perspective, based on the filing, unless we get you to do some serious number crunching, it is impossible to do?


MS. McKELLAR:  Okay.  I guess the difference - I'm not as familiar with Toronto Hydro - we don't do resource-based budgets.  So having said that, I understand your question.


I think there is some information we can point you to which you may find helpful, in terms of establishing the labour rates.  If you go to Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 26.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, that exhibit is a School Energy Coalition interrogatory, which asked us to provide the 2004 to 2008 labour rates, fleet rates and material surcharge rates.


So as discussed in panel 1, when I was asked about these charts, this shows the overall labour rates, the standard labour rates that we used to charge the fleet costs that were discussed the other day, the material surcharge in terms of accounting for the costs of the supply chain function, and the labour dollars to the work program.


So this is the methodology by which we get the salary dollars to the work program.  But, once again, to reiterate what Ms. McKellar has said, we do not do a resource-based budgeting approach.  It is a work-based budget.  What is the work we need to do?  What are the activities we need to complete that work?  Then we attribute the dollars to that work based on standard labour rates, material rates and fleet rates.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is this accounting approach -- I will call it an accounting approach -- is that unique to your company?  I can't say I have ever encountered this before.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I can -- the point of view of using standard costing rates is a very, very well used approach in the business, in utilities.  But going further in terms of the overall approach to approaching it on a work-based approach -- 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  -- I think we're -- well, I am hazarding a bit of a guess here, but I think we're relatively unique in that approach.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just as a matter of interest.


MR. KAISER:  Just to follow up on that, I was just flipping through your quarterly reports.  Of course they're unaudited, but this happens to be one of the first ones in your book.


Sure enough, you have revenue broken out by transmission and distribution in there, and then you have operation and maintenance, transmission, distribution and other.  It shows the percent change, and so on, for the quarter, you know.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. KAISER:  But if there is a variance, let's say that operation and maintenance - if I understand what you said, it's all in there - is higher.  It has gone up.  It is above budget for that quarter.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Don't your directors and your executives say, What went wrong?  And wouldn't they want to look at the labour component of that?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Absolutely, sir.  There's actually -- the monthly review meeting for the June results of our company was this morning, and I usually attend those meetings as the secretary.  So I participate in this process on a monthly basis.


The work program and the status of work programs are reviewed on a monthly basis in detail.  Yes, when we get to a project which is looking to be overbudget, we're asking, Why is it overbudget?  What are the reasons?  Did you encounter swampy lands where you were trying to put a foundation, where you originally didn't expect swampy lands to be and, that is added to cost?  


Did you get to the point where you're finding the activity costs takes more manpower to do it than you thought, and why is that?  Those questions are asked at these meetings and asked of the project managers on a monthly basis.


MR. KAISER:  But my question is a bit different.


This is the management document that we have before us.  This is the unaudited quarterly statement - this one happens to be for a bridge year, but it doesn't matter - for Hydro One Inc.


It, as you said, has transmission, distribution, other revenue, and then it breaks down costs.  There must be a document behind this that would break out the OM&A for each of transmission and distribution by certain categories that would be reported to executives as a matter of course.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  There is, sir, and it's a very detailed --


MR. KAISER:  They don't have to go and ask about swamps to get data.  You must give them more detailed reports than you're giving us on a quarterly basis?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, there are quarterly 

reports --


MR. KAISER:  What would those look like?  Could you produce one of those, just so we could see what the executive, what the president gets, what -- the board of directors get these quarterly reports, do they not?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, they do, sir.


MR. KAISER:  They go to the board?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, they do, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Could you provide us with a copy of the last three quarters, just so we can see how this business is run?


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me for a moment.  May I just take some advice?


MR. MacINTOSH:  Mr. Chairman, this discussion took place in an earlier hearing with Hydro One and we were assured that once the Cornerstone project was completed, they would be able to look at every project in planning and after execution and tell us the difference between labour and materials, which they're unable -- they seem to be unable to do now.


MR. ROGERS:  Let's not get distracted about another case.  I am not sure that is right.  I understand the drift of your question.  Obviously these documents do exist.  What I am just not certain on is exactly what they are, what they look like and whether there are any confidentiality issues.  Could I take that under advisement and advise you, sir?


MR. KAISER:  Certainly, yes, that would be helpful.  Can we have a number for that?


MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J3.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.10:  TO PROVIDE LAST THREE QUARTERLY REPORTS


MR. ROGERS:  I do know this whole issue about these labour rates has been an issue in the cases before.  I have to say that it has always been an issue and people have trouble understanding how this applicant does it, but their explanation is --


MR. KAISER:  Let me just tell you I had the same concern as Mr. Sommerville, I guess.  This is from a regulator's perspective, and I don't know how you got to this point, but the company actually has audited statements separately for distribution and transmission, which in itself is unusual.  That's the good news.


The bad news is that the usual cost elements that a regulatory process would look at, such as labour, because of the way -- are not there, so we need to resolve this once and for all.  It may be that the statements need to be done in a different fashion so that we're not going through this every year, you know we just end up and say, Well, you can't rely on this number.  It is both distribution and transmission.  


But, in any event, have a look at what the -- we just want to know what the real world is.  We're not asking you to manufacture anything.


MR. ROGERS:  I understand.  You want to see what it looks like in the real world.  I understand.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, sticking with H12-20 on the table, the last -- some of the 2008 columns weren't filled out under total number of employees.  The building trades MCP, PWU and Society figures weren't filled out, and neither were their corresponding total wages.


I understand, from the previous page on the response, you said, We don't -- sorry.  It says:

"Hydro One utilizes a work-based approach to staffing whereby the company resources according to work programs rather than plans the work around the number of internal resources available. Consequently the requested information for the forecast for 2008 is not available." 


But then, first of all, well...

Sorry, I can't remember off the top of my head.  MCP; what does that stand for? 

MS. McKELLAR:  Management compensation plan. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Does that include executive management?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  And lower level management?  

MS. McKELLAR:  All people not represented by one of the two -- one of the unions at Hydro One.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So the four categories here cover everybody; right?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I just want to make sure.  

In interrogatory response J1.11, sorry, undertaking response J1.11 which was produced today -- 

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  

MR. BUONAGURO: -- it kind of looks like you have those numbers, at least some of them.  For 2008, you have got PWU regular, Society regular, MCP regular.  Temp, temp, temp for all three categories.  The only one that is not easily identified is casual.  Would it be a good guess that casual would build up with the building trades?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Building trades, yes; hiring hall, CUSW. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I can actually fill in this table with those numbers by adding up regular and temporary staff for the three categories, putting the casual into building trades?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, you can.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  How about the second part of the chart?  Total wages.  

MS. McKELLAR:  I haven't got that information.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess –- I see that you figured out how to answer the question at least in the one category since the interrogatory was asked.  

Have you been able to figure out how to do the second one, the total wages part?  Basically you're projecting -- 

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you undertake to finish the -- 

MR. ROGERS:  I'm not following this.  Before I agree, I better understand it.  

You're looking at J1.11 and asking the witness to do, what?  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I mean it is simpler than that.  It looks like the table on page -- on attachment A of H12-20 can be finished now.  That's what I understand.  Is that true?  

MR. ROGERS:  Let me just ask.  Can that be done, Ms. McKellar, without -- 

MS. McKELLAR:  It can be done with the same caveats.  It is integrated and it is our best...

MR. ROGERS:  With our best estimate I guess of these costs, yes.  

MS. McKELLAR:  Sure. 

MR. ROGERS:  We will undertake to do that. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I can get the undertaking and whatever explanation for the caveats I would like to have that as part of the undertaking as well. 

MS. McKELLAR:  I will make sure that that is contained. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  

MR. MILLAR:  J3.11.  Mr. Buonaguro, maybe one more time just to make sure we're clear. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.11:  TO COMPLETE THE TABLE AT ATTACHMENT A OF EXHIBIT H12-20, USING THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN UNDERTAKING J1.11, AND THEN TO PROVIDE ANY EXPLANATION FOR CAVEATS OR ASSUMPTIONS OR CALCULATION PROBLEMS

MR. BUONAGURO:  To complete the table at attachment A of Exhibit H12-20, using, for example, the information that they provided in undertaking J1.11, and then to provide any explanation for caveats or I guess assumptions or calculation problems that they might perceive when they do it.  

Now, you have talked a number of times about the increase in 2008 in number or head count, projected head count from 5,893 in 2007, to 7,079 in 2008.  

And we can see, from the tables we have discussed, that the total wages related to the head count appear -- are going up from $495.5 million to $580.7 million, which is about a 17 percent increase for 2007.  I think somebody put the percentages to you, but you can take that subject to check as an approximation.  

And that the wages allocated to -- this is H1-71 interrogatory response -- the wages that have been allocated to Hydro One Networks OM&A have also increased by 17 percent from 2007 to 2008, which would be in accordance with the total increase.  

MS. McKELLAR:  That was H1-71?  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  We want to check the figure again.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure, sure.  So looking at that interrogatory response, the increase in OM&A from 2007 to 2008, by our calculation, is approximately 17 percent which follows along with the wage increase it appears. 

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it appears.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  

Now, I am going to give you a number from the transmission case that happened last year.  I don't have the -- haven't given this out but maybe you could take it check, EB-2006-0501.  C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2.  

MS. McKELLAR:  Could you -- sorry, but I am writing this down -- C1, tab 2. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Schedule 1, page 2.  It is just the transmission OM&A number.  Basically when you exclude taxes from the transmission number in OM&A, it decreased from 321.3 million in 2007, to 312.4 million in 2008.  Namely, there was a decrease in OM&A for the transmission side, once you exclude taxes.  Can you take that subject to check?  I think you have to say something. 

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes. 

MR. ROGERS:  We have it here.  Let's turn it up.  

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, I think you're comparing apples and oranges.  You're looking at total OM&A costs in one proceeding and you're looking at wages in another. 

What this chart shows you in response to H1-71 is how the wages, just the wage portion, got separated to OM&A and capital.  

And now you are going back in the other proceeding and talking about total OM&A, so those two beasts aren't comparable, unfortunately.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't think I am -- I think when you find out where I'm going, it won't be -- you won't be so objectionable. 

I am just trying to get some clarification.  Maybe that is the clarification I need.  I'm not sure.  

Now, if the current -- because in the current application the comparable to last year's the total distribution OM&A is also decreasing when you exclude taxes from 488.4 million in 2007, to 473.2 million in 2008.  That's C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2 of this application, to use the same exhibit numbers and actually page numbers as well.  

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So the point there is, in the transmission case last year, the total OM&A was going down when you exclude taxes and the same in the distribution when you exclude taxes, for this year, the total OM&A is going down.  

But at the same time the total OM&A is going down, the wages are going up by quite a bit, total wage cost is going up by quite a bit, in this case 17 percent as we already talked about, which suggests, to us, that wages, as a total percentage of total OM&A, have gone up quite a bit.  Is that fair?  

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second.  

[Witness panel confers]  

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, I take your point -- 

MS. McKELLAR:  Sorry, I turned him off.  Excuse me.  

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Thank you.  Yes.  I'm sorry.  Once again, you are really comparing apples and oranges, again.  

The transmission rate case that you referred to which has 2007 and 2008 information was put together in early 2006.  And we had an estimate of what the work would be in transmission at that point in time and what the total salaries for the company would be at that time. Now in the distribution application, time has gone by.  We have a distribution application in front of you and the corresponding transmission information has obviously changed.  So there's a change in the total work program in transmission that is implicit in the change in the total salary information that you are talking about.  

So without having all of that transmission information, current transmission information consistent with this, you can't make that comparison in terms of that ratio. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  I will tell you that my ultimate question was just to explain why the shift is apparent.  On the face of it, it looked to us like even though your distribution OM&A total is going down, the wages were going up by quite a bit.  And it seemed to suggest that, internally, at least in the distribution side, the wage component was starting to dwarf the other parts, at least certainly in the area of change. 

I think your explanation is -- or part of the explanation, at least, is the allocation or -- the allocation of wages between transmission and distribution is switching in between applications, so that for me to do a proper comparison, I would need the current transmission information.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  You would need the - I will try to say this again - transmission information, thank you, consistent with the information that was put together for this chart, is what you would need, yes, to do your analysis.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You may have already said this in your answer it.  I may not have caught it.  Are you able to jump ahead and tell me what that analysis will show, in terms of the wage component and distribution relative to overall OM&A and how it is changing?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, I don't -- I don't have it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you able to do that as an undertaking?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Oh, boy.


MR. ROGERS:  Once again, I'm sorry.  I am having a lot of trouble following this and I'm not sure what the request is.  I wonder if my friend could restate it succinctly for me.


MR. BUONAGURO:  What I have demonstrated is why we think there appears to be a significant increase in the percentage of O&M related to wages, even though total O&M is going down.


MR. ROGERS:  Because wage rates are going up and O&M is going down; that's your point?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, the wage component of O&M is going up.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Even though total O&M is going down.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to have that explained, how that is possible.  I think you have sort of touched on why that might be, and I just -- the undertaking is just to explain that.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's not easy.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You're shaking your head.  Is that a no?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's not easy to do, because you're asking me to go back to a point in time to a particular distribution application and say, at that very point in time, what was all of the transmission information at that level of detail.


I honestly don't know whether if is available.  One would think it is, but I really don't --


MR. ROGERS:  I will certainly undertake to enquire as to whether it can be done.  The problem is this accounting system, I concede.  The board is struggling with this.  It is a different type of system.  It's not some system, though, that is made up on the seat of their pants.  It is a very -- I have tried for quite a long time to understand it, but I am not an accountant.  


But it is a reliable system, but it's unique, a little bit unique, so I understand the difficulty here.  Let me inquire and see what we can do to -- if we can't do it, I will tell you why.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro, do we have your question at least clear as to what -- do you understand what Mr. Buonaguro is looking for?  Because I don't.


MR. BUONAGURO:  The perception to us, based on the evidence as I have set it out, is that the -- even though the distribution O&M is going down overall, the wage component of O&M is going up by 17 percent, which means other things must be going down for there to be a total decline.  I just want that explained.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry.  I apologize.  I am being a little slow today.  You're saying the OM&A goes down, but the capital goes up.  This is total wages.  Total wages, as has been explained, gets charged to the work program either through the overhead capitalization rate for common costs or through direct charges to projects to the standards labour rates.


So although there is a small decrease in the OM&A, the capital work program increases over that period of time.  I think it is not straightforward.


MS. McKELLAR:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand you're saying that, yes, total O&M goes down even though the wage is going up, but that is because there is an offsetting increase in the capitalization of some of that.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  If I could take you to Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1, which is the summary of capital expenditures, that will show an almost $100 million increase in the capital expenditure program between 2007 and 2008.  And part of that increase will be labour component of that increase, the labour charged to the capital work orders.


So I think the explanation is that straightforward.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I shouldn't get too excited that the overall OM&A is going down, because a lot of that got shifted to capital?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Once again, we're trying to make a distinction between salaries, total salaries, and OM&A work programs.  We do get the salaries allocated properly, accurately and consistent with GAAP to OM&A and capital work programs in T&D.  The labour ends up in the right place through right accounting methodologies, consistent with GAAP.


It's just you're trying to compare a salary number with an OM&A number.  You have to look at salaries in relationship to the total work program, which is where they get charged.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I think I have his answer that will obviate the need for the undertaking.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Buonaguro, if I may interrupt for a second.  Mr. Rogers, I, for one, would be assisted if there was some kind of a primer of what this accounting system is, this work-based budget.  I'm not looking for -- I'm looking for a page or two, maybe a flow chart, maybe an example as a second page, as to, you know, you've got one company, two divisions.  Here's a typical -- you know, the company is involved in only two functions, okay, that kind of thing.  


So I think we will all be assisted with this.


MR. ROGERS:  That would help me a great deal, as well, so I will accept that undertaking.


MR. VLAHOS:  Maybe with can append that to J3.10.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I am assuming we're keeping Mr. Buonaguro's undertaking J3.12 and this would become part of it?


MR. ROGERS:  No.  J3.12 I think was abandoned.


MR. MILLAR:  This will be the J3.12.


MR. ROGERS:  It will be answered.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.12:  TO PROVIDE A DESCRIPTION OF THE WORK-BASED BUDGET ACCOUNTING SYSTEM

MR. ROGERS:  Twelve or 13?


MR. MILLAR:  Twelve.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Your standard costing rates have been going up.  I do have some questions on those.  Looking at Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 1, page 2, as I understand it, it sets out the labour escalation assumptions?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, what was the reference again, sir?


MR. BUONAGURO:  A14-1.


MS. McKELLAR:  Page 2?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Page 2.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry.  Yes, I have that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And there it talks about that for PWU staff, economic increases are assumed to be 3 percent per annum.  That's one of the assumptions?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And then with respect to step progressions, it talks about a 4.35 percent factor and it talks about 9.9 percent of people receiving step progression increases; is that correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we just had -- first of all, we had a confusion about how that applies.


Does that mean that there is a 4.35 percent factor which applies directly to the 9.9 percent of the total, so that the net effect is an additional 0.43 percent in overall compensation or is it simply 4.35 percent --


MS. MCKELLAR: Hm-hmm.


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- on the total?


MS. McKELLAR:  I would like to discuss this with Mr. Van Dusen before I respond.


MR. ROGERS:  I was going to point out this was, I thought, a settled issue.  If the information is readily available, I want to cooperate, but this was settled as the economic and business planning assumptions for 2008.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I just -- I would have to look at the settlement agreement to see exactly how it was settled.  This question is, for a matter of clarification, exactly what it is that they're applying.


MR. KAISER:  What it is you agreed to in the settlement.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It wouldn't be the first time, I don't think.


MS. McKELLAR:  I can attempt -- I actually didn't actually put this together, but I think I can explain it in terms of the 3 percent represents the negotiated increases which are, in this case, effective April, so that is across-the-board increases.  So all of the salary wage schedules would go up 3 percent.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.


MS. McKELLAR:  In addition to that, out of that population, there is roughly just under 10 percent of people in the PW are eligible because, as I said, we have a lot of people on training programs, so they're eligible for these progressions.  They go up a step each year as their competency in the job increases.


And those -- I believe what this is saying is that between those steps, it is another 4.35 percent as they move up on that salary schedule.  Does that --


MR. BUONAGURO:  For that 10 percent --


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- they get -- in addition to 

3 percent, they're getting something in the order of 4.35 percent?


MS. McKELLAR:  They are, because they're moving through the competency of the job.  They have training steps.  Many are five-or six-year programs, and each year on their progression date, provided they're competent in that, they get that additional step.


MR. BUONAGURO:  The impacts of that on the total PWU-related increases is the smaller number, 0.43 percent impact on the total?


MS. McKELLAR:  Overall, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So that's 3.43 percent, roughly, I guess total escalation?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Effective escalation is what you are showing on there, okay.


Now, at H13-26, which I think is what is the interrogatory response referred us to, I think.  We have the actual costing rates.  

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, correct.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  And just looking at the year-over-year changes, and picking some at random, for example, scheduling tab, grid 63, the second one on the list. 

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  The increase in that particular rate was from 91.5, to 108.5 between 2006 and 2007, then from 108.5 to 117.5 in 2007 to 2008.  

So to 2007, it was an 18.6 percent increase is what we have.  Then for 2008 it is an 8.3 percent increase. 

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I think if you go through, there are a number that have sort of magnitude of increases in the standard rate. 

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, there are.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess we're trying to reconcile how it is so many -- I haven't told you exactly how many and I haven't done the calculation, but there are a lot of rates that are going up, at rates in excess of 7, 8 percent between 2007 and 2008 even though the overall escalation appears to be as we have discussed about 3.4 percent as an assumption.  

Can you reconcile those two different ideas?  

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can.  Let me explain.  

This was also discussed with the School Energy Coalition on the day panel 1 appeared.  So the question at that point in time, and which I believe there is a transcript undertaking to be filed in that, had to do with the impact on the labour rates of change from facility costs being reported as labour rates and moving to direct costs and I was asked for the impact and that will be filed shortly.  

So that is an example of what can cause changes to the labour rates.  It's the company making decisions about how best to appropriate the dollars to the work program in the most direct manner.  

So sometimes we make changes that take a cost, which was either previously a direct cost and allocate it through rates, or the other way, costs that were in rates and now a direct cost.  

There are other items that impact these rates, other than just the wages.  There are pension adjustments.  Benefit costs.  Increased health and safety costs.  And then there could be increased distribution of some of the fixed distribution costs like a supervisory time. So all of those types of factors impact the rates and the level of the rates.  

As indicated in day 1, we take a look at those rates on an annual basis and we take a look at the costs and we say:  What is the best way to get these costs to the work that they're attributable to?  Is it best through the standard labour rate?  Is it best through some direct charge?  Is it best to handle this as a direct cost and have that direct cost allocated through cost allocation?  

So we take a look at it.  So some of the changes you're seeing here that represent increases over and above the basic wage increases that you have correctly pointed out, have to do with some of those other changes.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can't honestly say I understand everything you just said but it is on the record.  

Now, let me take a stab at some clarifying questions, though.  

It looks like, from the original numbers, we're talking about the 3 percent plus the particular, I guess, 4.35 percent some people are experiencing as a result of shifts, that your basic person, in terms of their actual wages for the year, they're getting something in the order of that 3 percent or 3 plus depending whether they're getting a step progression for the year; is that right?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that seems to be completely independent of what's happening on these standard program costs. 

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, that is not correct.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Let me take you to Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 1, which is the costing of work.  If I can take you, in that exhibit, to page 3 of 9, table 1.  

This is an illustrative example that we have provided in an attempt to partly address questions about how the dollars get to the work program.  

So in this we have an example of regional line maintainer.  We talk about the various components of the standard labour rates.



So as you can see, the payroll obligations in this example of $72.08, part of that is the direct labour costs and part of that is the benefits.  But you can see there is other times that we attribute to the standard labour costs.  

I apologize I wasn't clear in my earlier answer to your question, I was talking about some of these other items that can change from year to year that would cause the overall standard labour rate to change.  

But the labour component, the actual salary component of the standard labour rate would change exactly in conjunction with the increases that you have mentioned.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I was right, that for the person who is actually doing the work, their labour rate is subject to this 3 percent plus depending on their step progression.  And that's a subcomponent of the standard cost.  

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  You're saying that remains, well, remains constant insofar as those assumptions?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Right. 

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes it is.  I apologize for not getting it to you more directly.  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, thank you.  I am quite happy with myself for understanding.  

Did the Board want to take a break?  

MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Would this be convenient?  

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  

MR. KAISER:  20 minutes.  

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Chair, I wonder if we should mention, for next week, there is a little extra time between now and when we start on Tuesday.  

If persons doing cross-examination could prepare booklets containing the items they intend to refer to including interrogatory responses, and the full array of things that they intend to refer to, that would simplify matters for the witness panels, I know, and for this panel, as well.  

Thank you.  

--- Recess taken at 2:47 p.m. 

--- Upon resuming at 3:15 p.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

I meant to add, when Mr. Sommerville was commenting about the cross-examination brief -- Mr. MacIntosh, of course, was the only one, but if -- he was here at the OPG case.  In the OPG case there was a rule.  The simple enough rule, which you all understand is if you don't do it, you only get 75 percent of your costs, so that's why he was on the ball.

MR. ROGERS:  Just before we begin, I have one administrative matter.  Can I confirm I filed another undertaking answer J1.2?

Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Mr. Buonaguro, I think you were still examining.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.

On the increase in employees from 2007 head count of 5,893 to the 2008 forecast of 7,079, can you describe whether and how Hydro One considered the issue of how that impacts on productivity.  Intuitively, adding 1,000 employees in a year - and I guess it is about a 20 percent increase in the total number of employees - could have or should have a detrimental impact on productivity that would have to be accounted for.

[Witness panel confers]


MS. McKELLAR:  Perhaps I could ask you to clarify your question again.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Well, for example, you talked to Mr. DeVellis, I think it was, about a good chunk, I think it was 40 percent or so of those new hires, are related to attrition or future attrition?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So, for example, one would think that they would be certainly new to the company, and there's training involved and a learning curve.

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  At the same time that they're being trained by presumably experienced staff to some degree?

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which would take away from the productivity, to some degree, of the existing staff when they're dealing with new staff, these types of issues.  What I am asking is:  Hydro One considered these issues when planning for that larger-than-usual hiring in such a short time frame?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Hydro One did specifically plan for the increase in staff in terms of keeping in mind its productivity initiatives and its productivity objectives.

If I can take you to Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 2, and if I could take you to page 7 of that exhibit, Hydro One quite specifically understands that we have a bit of a unique circumstance facing us at this point in time.

We have a major growth in work programs across our transmission and distribution businesses.  We have major replacements of core IT systems, and also we have a substantial shift in demographics.

So we feel that we can take advantage of this unique set of circumstances, in conjunction with one another, to look to continue to gain productivity and efficiency improvements.

Let me deal with the one that you talked about, the substantial shift in staff demographics.  With the large number of staff retiring over the next decade that we have talked about, we have to replace these staff.

So one of the things that will happen is, of course, junior staff will be brought in at a lower wage rate than the senior staff that are leaving.

One of the other aspects of the new staff coming in, though, has to do with ensuring that we can transfer to them the skills and knowledge from the senior staff, who are about to retire, to them in a manner which is effective and efficient.

Along these lines, Hydro One has a new HR strategy and has new hiring requirements that are talked about in this exhibit further on, if I can take you to page 13 of this exhibit, where it talks about some of the aspects of our human resource policies that are geared to helping existing managers be more effective in the way they manage, and also to help us in terms of our hiring practice to ensure that we get the right cultural fit with the staff that we're bringing in.

So it is with this unique set of circumstances, a large work program from which we hope to get efficiency improvements, economies of scales from replacements of IT systems, where we hope to get process improvement, process transparency, common processes used across the line of business, and also this knowledge transfer of skills and building on our existing culture of continuous improvement with the new young staff that are joining the company.  

So it is a longer-term view.  It is a view that the company is moving forward on and understands it has an opportunity here over the next couple of years to take advantage of some situations to actually be sure that we continue to move forward and stay productive.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You mentioned near the end of your answer that you -- I don't know if "accepted" is the right word, but you talked about it being a longer-term view.  

And when I am reading through the cite that you put up, it talks about how the work or how the hiring, in particular, that you are doing now may affect or increase productivity in the future.  But I'm sort of talking about the immediate problem in the year, the test year, in particular, of -- I don't know if "throwing" is the right word, but increasing staff by 20 percent.

Skimming through this particular excerpt, I don't see anything attacking that particular problem.

MS. McKELLAR:  Well, if I could just add to what Mr. Van Dusen was saying, I had stated earlier, with our apprentice, for example, in fact it can be more productive, because we have can an apprentice at an early stage in their training program work on a de-energized line rather than have a journey person.  So we're paying less money.  They're learning how to do the work; whereas one of the more experienced people is working on an energized line.  So there are advantages.

We hired 82 graduate engineers recently and they're joining us -- many have joined us already, and the rest will follow in the rest of 2008.  We're putting them on projects which are commensurate with their skill set coming out of university rather than having a journeyperson engineer doing the same project.  So we're paying a much lower rate for that amount of work.

So although there are some -- you're right, there will be some -- there needs to be more coaching and mentoring, particularly given the essential nature and some of the hazardous aspects of our jobs.  It is necessary.  As stewards of Ontario's transmission electricity system and the largest distribution system, we feel it would be irresponsible of us not to bring these people in in advance, while we still have the opportunity to coach and mentor them, so they can take over these jobs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

I have some questions on the pension question, much to the chagrin of Mr. Clark, I'm sure.

MR. CLARK:  I didn't give him that one.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can tell you it came from Mr. Harper, but I think it is somewhat benign, at least to them.

Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, appendix A.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Take a look at page 3.  Could you confirm that this application is based on a total estimated pension contribution for 2008 of $104 million?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can confirm that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then at page 2, it talks about the allocation, and 31.7 percent of the 140 million goes to distribution.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, the number you're looking at, 31 did you say?

MR. BUONAGURO:  31.7 is the number I have.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm seeing a number of 56 million corporate pension costs charged to distribution in mine.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.

MS. McKELLAR:  That's what I have.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm looking at page 2 of that exhibit and adding up the total OM&A and capital in association with the distribution system, and getting $56 million dollars, sir.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  It must have been a calculation error.

Well, we can say then $56 million of the total, then, so around 50 percent?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Roughly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And can you confirm that the application which includes these numbers was done prior to the completion and filing of the pension evaluation.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It certainly was done before the filing of the evaluation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The evaluation which is filed attached to –- H1-76 was filed after our distribution application was filed; yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And interrogatory response H12-21 says that based on this evaluation, the required pension contribution for the years 2007, 2008 and 2009 is $95 million, total, I guess, per year.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, what was the reference to the interrogatory, please?

MR. BUONAGURO:  H12-21.

MS. McKELLAR:  I don't have it.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second, please.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  It's on page 2, third full paragraph.

MS. McKELLAR:  Have you got it?  Thank you.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, my apologies.  I have it now.  Sorry, could you repeat your question?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  In this interrogatory response at page 2, third full paragraph it says:
"The valuation report submitted to FSCO in September 2007 will establish a level of contribution of about $95 million for the three-year period 2007 through 2009."


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Does that mean that there's a difference in the numbers between the application and the evaluation of about $9 million per year?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, there is.

Please let me take you, though, to response to Board interrogatory H, tab 1, schedule 123.  In the response to part A:
"Hydro One acknowledges the difference between the amount contained in our application and the amounts indicated by the new actuarial evaluation and as such Hydro One is requesting the deferral account."


Mr. Innis, in his appearance on panel 4, will be able to talk to the deferral account specifically, but the reasoning is straightforward.  The application came in based on an older estimate.  We have a newer estimate in a deferral account consistent with the Board's past practice on this has been requested.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So -- which is all to say that if that holds up, then we'll be paying your rates, the actual number?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Obviously I missed that interrogatory response.

I'm thinking back to the first day.  Are there any other corrections to the application that you are acknowledging similar to that that we should know about?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  This isn't a correction.  This is a -- part of our original application, part of our filed material.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What I mean is changes in numbers for various reasons.  Like, for example, that would be a change in a number because new information came out that you are accepting rather than stumbling upon it like that which is partly my fault --

MR. ROGERS:  There are no material changes that we're aware of that would affect the application.  The application is what it is.  There are no mistakes that I am aware of, of any significance.  This is not a mistake, as you heard, it was clearly identified.

MR. KAISER:  It's an update?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  There are other deferral accounts and of course the disposition of the regulatory assets is part of panel 4.  Mr. Innis will be able to talk about that.  I believe there are two other deferral accounts in front of the Board for their consideration, as well.  This is one of them, as part of our filed evidence.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  If you're leaving that, can I just ask a question before you go to the next.  On the chart you were just referring to C1, schedule 3, 2, this is where you had 45 million in pension costs for transmission, 56 for distribution.

I notice that the material says that you arrived at that allocation based upon pensionable earnings.  So these are the actual salary figures, I take it, that you are using for the purpose of splitting the pension costs between the two businesses?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's almost correct, Mr. Chairman.  It has to do with estimated pension earnings for 2008, but, yes, we take a look at an estimate.  As Ms. McKellar pointed out, we can do an estimate, at a high level, of the total salary and then an estimate of the total base pensionable earnings and therefore the -- then do an allocation between OM&A and capital.

MR. KAISER:  Why do you split the pension costs between OM&A and capital?  Is that because there's labour in each?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  There is labour in each.  Labour rates that we have had so much discussion on today are applicable to the appropriate OM&A work and the appropriate capital work as well.  So it is appropriate that pension costs be attributable to both OM&A and capital work programs.

MR. KAISER:  So I understand there are two allocation exercises.  But the 104, in total pension costs those are real costs.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, they are.

MR. KAISER:  They're real audited costs?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Then you allocate it once between transmission and distribution, and then within each of those two groups between OM&A and capital?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Okay, thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I have some questions on Cornerstone.

First, in response to earlier questioning, you talked about benefits of the project which would occur or are supposed to occur in 2009 and 2010 during the IR period.

And the answer to the question how would they be captured by ratepayers seems to be they will be captured as part of the IRM process.  Did I understand that correctly?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, you did.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So for example, when Hydro One applies for 2009 IRM adjustment -- assuming that is what happens -- part of the application will illustrate the benefits associated with Cornerstone for that rate period, the 2009 rate period.  Then that will be an adjustment to your base rates going into the IRM period?

MR. CURTIS:  I don't know exactly how we're going to be required to report on IRM.  So it's a little speculative, as far as that's concerned.

But the intention would be to file so that these savings are in the revenue requirement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  They're captured in the revenue requirement before adjustments are made during the IRM?

MR. CURTIS:  They would be captured in the application, yes, that we would be making.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. ROGERS:  The Board would be aware, I think, that this is a work in process, the IRM third generation.

So my client would be cooperating with the evolution of that system.

MR. CURTIS:  In whatever way it evolves, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  I don't think they know now exactly how this is going to look.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it is the intention that I am trying to clarify.  So it would actually -- however IRM works, the idea is that those benefits would accrue to the benefit of shareholders as they happened, even though they're happening in the middle of an IRM period.

MR. CURTIS:  I think you said accrued to the shareholder.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Did I say that?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, you did.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I just got fired. 

[Laughter]


MR. BUONAGURO:  To the ratepayers.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Curtis, I would invite you to read the record again and just confirm that, because in is a pretty important thing that we have to mention in the decision.

So I would invite you to confirm that.  It has to be mentioned in the decision, because typically in an IRM case it would not necessarily reflect adjustments of certain types.  So...

MR. ROGERS:  This panel -- is pulling my sleeve, and I think that is what he wanted to tell me, so yes, we will read the transcript and provide a statement to clarify exactly what the company intends.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Is that an undertaking?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I am quite happy to take an undertaking for that, if you like.


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, it doesn't have to be.


MR. ROGERS:  I won't forget to do this.


MR. VLAHOS:  There is also your argument-in-chief, so...


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Which is partly why I asked the question, I think, three times.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Now, if you stopped after two you, would be ahead.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I know, I know.  And I wouldn't have been fired.


Now, specifically on the Cornerstone, some of the numbers.  In Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 5, page 16, which is one of the pages we have taken you to before, it talks about the Cornerstone project capital expenditure for 2008, total expenditure, and it is listed as $63 million.


MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.  This is the capital expenditure.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And by comparison, looking at the original Cornerstone, I guess, business case, which was attached to an interrogatory response at H, tab 12, schedule 31, attachment A, it has the capital and MFA amounts for 2008 to be 25.5 million.


MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Does that mean that it's behind schedule in terms of spending, at least?


MR. CURTIS:  Not --


MR. BUONAGURO:  What does the difference mean?


MR. CURTIS:  There is a change in cash flow between the two.


The one that you are referencing in page 12-31 was prepared around February of 2007, whereas the one that you are referring to in table 6 on Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 5 was February of this year.


There was a change in terms of the cash flow for the project, but the in-service date was still maintained as June of this year, and the project has been completed.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


Now, sticking, then, with the $63 million figure for 2008, I understand that 28 million of that is allocated to distribution.  I think you talked about this already today.


MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And then of the $28 million, $22.3 million is for phase 1, which is the part that you completed.


I think if you look at H1-37A, that would support that.


MR. CURTIS:  Sorry, what is your reference?


MR. BUONAGURO:  H1-37, part A.  It gives the allocation.


MR. CURTIS:  That's the allocation.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  And then part C shows Hydro One distribution, 2008, Cornerstone phase 1, 22.3 million.


MR. CURTIS:  That's correct, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you have 22.3 million for phase 1.  And our understanding is that the balance of 5.7 million is for phase 2 and 3?


MR. CURTIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's dealing with other software applications?


MR. CURTIS:  Other phases of Cornerstone, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And it also includes enhanced capabilities to the phase 1 system, the PassPort system?


MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  There is one phase of Cornerstone that enhances the capabilities of what we're achieving with phase 1, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in terms of the allocation, our understanding is you used the Rudden methodology to allocate costs between distribution and transmission for the project?


MR. CURTIS:  That would be the basis, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Generally speaking, the Rudden methodology would use -- could potentially use different allocation drivers or different cost drivers for different softwares?


MR. CURTIS:  Um...


MR. BUONAGURO:  You're looking like I may have misplaced --


MR. CURTIS:  Mr. Van Dusen feels he wants to answer this one.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The Rudden methodology, there was Rudden methodology associated with common assets, and that material was filed as part of these proceedings and I believe it was a settled issue in term terms of the methodology.  


So in terms of how a common IT project would be split between transmission and distribution, the methodology would be outlined in that study.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I can jump to the meat of the question.  I am trying to figure out how the cost drivers for the -- whether you allocated the specific costs related to different softwares as direct allocations or whether they were all pooled into a general allocation, and then allocated as a general shared asset between distribution and transmission.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The allocation methodology allows for us to directly charge transmission and distribution where it's appropriate, such that when we come to one of the phases of Cornerstone that's looking at the CSS replacement, that will be charged entirely to distribution.  It's a distribution IT-related project.  It's appropriately charged to the distribution business.


But to the extent that you're dealing with a large enterprise-wide project that services the entire company, transmission and distribution, then the Rudden methodology provides us with three specific allocators, one for major capital, one for TWE and one for MFA that is not TWE.


Sorry, transport and work equipment, and MFA is minor fixed assets, I apologize.  


So the Rudden methodology says if you can directly assign it, do it.  That's the best approach.  Where you cannot directly assign it, they go through the methodology of taking a look at the assets that are in the various -- you know, major capital, TWE and MFA, and develop the methodology and the assignment to the percentages.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So in this particular case, we're talking about Cornerstone and we're talking about the different software suites.  Can you tell me which allocation ended up being used?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  For phase 1, we have used the major capital allocation.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me why?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Because it fits the criteria as outlined by the Rudden study.


It is a major enterprise-wide system that services both the transmission and distribution system.  Remember, the Cornerstone phase 1 is the work management system, so it's inventory, accounts payable, work management.  Those systems are servicing the entire business, and, therefore, the major capital allocation was appropriate.


MR. BUONAGURO:  For the other software systems that are part of this project, I guess more phase 2 and phase 3, have they been allocated yet?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  In terms of the planning sense, I believe we're going to allocate phase 2, which is the finance, HR and pay, using the major capital allocation, as well.  Once again, the argument is the financial system and HR system services the entire business and, therefore, cannot be directly attributable to either T or D.


Phase 3 is a little bit more up in the air.  The exact components of phase 3 are not entirely determined, so I can't offer you judgment on that.


And assuming phase 4 is, as we have planned today, to be the replacement of CSS, that would be directly attributable to the distribution business.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Now, I have a final clarification question on Cornerstone.  Back to D1-3-5, page 16, we talked about total 2007 spending in this case on Cornerstone of $60.4 million.


 MR. CURTIS:  60.4, yes, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Then at H1-37, it talks about 2007 spending on phase 1 of Cornerstone being 76.7 million.  Could you tell me which of those two values is the correct value?


MR. CURTIS:  The value that you see in the table that you referred to in D1, tab 3, schedule 5 is the actual cost.  So it is the -- it is the number that --


MR. BUONAGURO:  60.4?


MR. CURTIS:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  Sorry, the 60.4 figure?


MR. CURTIS:  Yes, for 2007, 60.4.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that would be the figure that is reflected in rate base?


MR. CURTIS:  That's correct, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. MacIntosh, do you have anything?

Cross-examination by Mr. MacIntosh:


MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.


My name is David MacIntosh, and I am here on behalf of Energy Probe Research Foundation.


Our questions are in respect of issue 3.6.  Are the 2008 human resources-related costs, wages, benefits, incentive payments, labour productivity and pension costs, including employee levels, appropriate?

I do have another package of materials which I could pass out.

MR. MILLAR:  Call that Exhibit K3.3, Energy Probe's cross-examination materials for panel 3.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.3: ENERGY PROBE'S CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS FOR PANEL 3

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This contains evidence already in the record?

MR. MacINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. MacIntosh?  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, I just observe, this is useful.  I personally approve of this process, for what value that might have.  But it would be helpful if we got these documents in advance so the witnesses could see them.

MR. KAISER:  Will that leave you with one, Mr. MacIntosh.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Yes, sir.

So our questions, panel, are in respect of one of our interrogatories, which is at the front of the materials, being Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 3.  And the evidence on which that interrogatory was based, which is Exhibit C2, tab 3, schedule 1 and those are both in the package.

We note that for regional lines maintainers, overtime earnings are roughly 47 percent of base pay which equates to about 500 hours of overtime per employee, or approximately ten hours a week.

I wonder if I am correct in looking at your answer, your response to our interrogatory on page 1 of our package, under B, the bottom of the page.  If I took the 500 hours and I went over to page 3, at table 1, the overtime column showing $36,750, if I divided one into the other and I came out to $73.50, would that roughly be the overtime pay for this category per hour?  If I took the 500 hours and I divided them into the average overtime on table 1 for 2008.  Or are we just to take that subject to check?


MS. McKELLAR:  So your question is what is the hourly -- you're looking for the hourly rate of overtime?

MR. MacINTOSH:  Yes.  That's what I did.  I am wondering if that is reasonably correct.

MS. McKELLAR:  We can do it that way or I could tell you what the hourly rate is for the regional maintainer line and what the overtime provisions are, and that would show what the premium is that we pay.

MR. MacINTOSH:  That would be even better.

MS. McKELLAR:  Would that be -- okay.

Probably the best place for me to get that information, if we go to the Hay report, which is filed in Exhibit A, tab 15, schedule 2, attachment B is the Hay report that we have referred to earlier.

Specifically, if you turn to page 12 of that report. Once again, as I said, there are nine steps in this particular job classification, depending on the -- on your competency in the job from the entry level apprenticeship up to the journeyperson.  So of course your premium is going to be tied into your hourly rate.  But if we look at a journeyperson rate, which is fully competent for the job, it's at $36.10 an hour, and if you go down to the bottom of the chart, it shows that our first level of overtime rate is time and a half for that.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.  Does Hydro One have a policy on the amount of overtime worked before it is economical to hire additional staff?

MS. McKELLAR:  The amount of overtime which we have is governed by some legislation, which requires that we get specific permits to allow people to work a maximum number of hours.  So we must adhere to those.

Do we have a policy?  What we do is we would look at the amount of work that's required and look at the staff numbers.  As I said earlier, for much of our work it is emergency overtime which is done in a remote location to restore a line that has gone down.

It does not make sense to send in a new crew given the geography and how far they have to travel to get there.  So we continue to have the same crew work until we have restored the power.

MR. MacINTOSH:  So your overtime is planned, in general, but not specifically, because it relates to emergency?

MS. McKELLAR:  Much of it is emergency and another significant amount of our overtime is a result of our customer focus, where our customers have asked us increasingly to take outages on the weekends.  And that, once again, drives up our overtime costs.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Does your collective agreement guarantee overtime?

MS. McKELLAR:  Do you mean does it guarantee a certain amount of overtime?

MR. MacINTOSH:  Yes.

MS. McKELLAR:  No, it does not.

MR. MacINTOSH:  We're interested in what controls are in place to ensure that employees accurately report overtime hours worked, and I might ask you:  How are oversheets approved?


MS. McKELLAR:  I can begin the answer to this and if Mr. Van Dusen would like to add to that, I would welcome it.

Time sheets are done by the field supervisor.  They're signed off.  They are audited.  As I said they're checked by the supervisor.  He or she knows what work is being accomplished and how long that took to accomplish that work.  And they are audited frequently -- they're audited every time they're submitted which is weekly.

And also in accordance with Bill 198 -- and I am in charge of the whole payroll function for Hydro One -- we are now subject to additional audits on all of those things that we weren't doing previously.  So there's quite a few audits going on, in terms of hours worked and time sheets.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is there an equalization requirement in your collective agreement?

MS. McKELLAR:  There are some provisions around the extent to which some people get overtime, yes there is a process by which overtime is distributed.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So does the union vet the overtime allocations, as well?

MS. McKELLAR:  It's my understanding that we would send them a listing and I'm not -- I can't speak with accuracy how frequently, but they would look and see whether the overtime was being distributed evenly.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. MacINTOSH:  In on interrogatory which is on page 1 of our package, I would just direct your attention to question E, that's at line 24, page 1.

The question was, and the reason I am bringing it up is, I think the question was not understood because of, as I will show you, the way the answer was constructed.

E asks:  Does Hydro One have any policies or practices in place to find what it would consider to be excessive overtime and to identify individual employees working excessive overtime?

Now, if you turn the next page.  Where we were concerned with work periods, the answer is concerned with rest periods.

And so maybe you could assist us and let us know whether or not there is a tracking to see if individual employees are working excess overtime.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, there is.  In accordance with the employment standards legislation, we have to track overtime according to the permits which we have.


MR. MacINTOSH:  By person?


MS. McKELLAR:  By person.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.  Thank you.


I have another question.  I was wondering whether Hydro One benchmarks overtime against other distribution utilities.


MS. McKELLAR:  Could you clarify what you mean by "benchmark", please?


MR. MacINTOSH:  Well, do you benchmark what the average original line maintainer in other utilities would put in as overtime?


MS. McKELLAR:  Number of hours? 


MR. MacINTOSH:  Yes, or it could be costs, but I would imagine it would be hours.


MS. McKELLAR:  Well, in terms of premiums, I have outlined that is contained in the Hay report.  I am personally not aware of us benchmarking overtime, but I have to remind you that given the geography of the company and the drivers behind our large amount, if you will -- I shouldn't classify it as our large amount of overtime, but our emergency overtime, not all comparator companies would have the same geography they're covering.


So, for example, if I looked at Toronto Hydro, which we occasionally do benchmark our labour rates and so forth, they don't have the same geography if there is a storm.  So they can send that crew home at the end of the day and send another crew in, because it is close to where we live.  


We, on the other hand, can't do that if we have somebody in a remote location.  But, no, I guess the short answer would be I'm not aware that we benchmark the number of hours.


MR. ROGERS:  If I can help, the Hay Group study filed in evidence in this proceeding does say at page 14:

"Hydro One's overtime eligibility, overtime policies and union representation seem generally similar to the norms of the market survey participants."


To that extent, they addressed that in the benchmarking study.


MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I think Ms. Cochrane is going to precede me.

Cross-examination by Ms. Cochrane:


MS. COCHRANE:  Thank you.  Panel, my name is Ljuba Cochrane.  I am Board counsel.  I have just a couple of questions for you that were punted over to you by previous panels.  They are just about the Cornerstone project.  If you look at Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 5 --


MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I have that.


MS. COCHRANE:  -- at page 21, where you have indicated that Cornerstone will provide savings to the company of $200 million, and they're categorized over on to the next page into 12 areas of identified estimated benefits from mid 2008 to 2015.


I have some questions just about a couple of those big ticket items, so to speak.


MR. CURTIS:  Sure.


MS. COCHRANE:  The first being with respect to optimize O&M and capital spending, which has an estimated benefit of $50.3 million.  Could you describe what this saving or benefit is and how you arrived at the estimate?


MR. CURTIS:  Certainly.


What this benefit is is an improvement or optimization in terms of the OM&A and capital investment within our assets.


This is specifically to the transmission station assets that this benefit has been derived.


What you see here, investing in a transmission or transformer station, involves continuous investment as far as OM&A or capital, in terms of maintaining that station and delivering reliable power to our customers.


There are two areas what this particular benefit concentrates on.  One is, in the early stages of a station and equipment installed in a station, there may be defects that happen, and they may take the station out of service.


It is like buying a new car, and you may find that you ended up with a car that wasn't particularly well built and had problems initially.


What SAP, our Cornerstone phase 1 application, will allow us to do is more accurately track those early defects.  So we will be able to address those problems earlier on and avoid causing our customers problems in terms of unnecessary outages.


The second part of this benefit goes with the full life cycle of the asset.  This goes from maintaining, refurbishing and replacement.  And through this period, there would be decisions that the planners have to make in terms of how much money to invest in terms of OM&A dollars or capital dollars to maintain that asset in service.


And our new tool will allow us to track that information more accurately and develop work plans that will more optimally invest the OM&A money and the capital money in terms of the investment to save that asset.


Now, the overall assumption is that we expect to make about a 3 percent improvement in terms of our investment in transmission station OM&A and sustaining transmission station capital.


That would be ramped up over the period from 2009 through to about 2010, and then would hit the 3 percent improvement continually after that.


MS. COCHRANE:  You have indicated all of the benefits to the transmission side of the business.  How is any of the savings attributable to distribution customers?


MR. CURTIS:  For this particular component, there is none that is attributed to the distribution side.


MS. COCHRANE:  And when the costs of the Cornerstone project were allocated as between distribution and transmission, you know, was there some accounting of the fact that this particular benefit, the O&M savings, were not attributable to the distribution business at all?


MR. CURTIS:  There are two -- you're talking about two exercises.  The exercise in terms of deriving the benefits coming out of Cornerstone phase 1 was done by a separate team, who looked at all of the different components or areas of process that would be improved by Cornerstone phase 1.


They did this independently of how the costs for the project were determined to flow into transmission or distribution.


I think, as Mr. Van Dusen explained, there is a corporate level allocation of the costs that was done to allocate the costs to transmission and distribution.


MS. COCHRANE:  Maybe this is too simplistic an assessment on my part, but I will put it to you, anyways.  $50 million of $200 million of savings is about 25 percent.


Would 25 percent of the costs of Cornerstone have been -- at least 25 percent, on that basis, have been allocated to the transmission business just for the savings in that area, or is that an analysis or consideration that wasn't taken?


MR. CURTIS:  I think, as I was explaining earlier, in terms of the costs that were allocated, there is about a 44 percent allocation of costs to the distribution system or the distribution customers.


What there is, there's specifically identified savings to the distribution customers of Cornerstone phase 1 of about 30 percent.


However, all of our distribution customers are also our transmission customers, Hydro One transmission customers.  So the benefits that accrue on the transmission side are also available to our distribution customers.


MS. COCHRANE:  Now, another one of the areas of identified benefit is called improved contract compliance and management through reduction in P-card and non-PO spent for direct purchase materials and services.


Could you -- and the estimated benefit of that is $35 million.  Can you describe what this saving or benefit is and how that has been estimated?


MR. CURTIS:  Certainly.  As a matter of fact, I believe we responded to that in a Board interrogatory.  If I could take you to Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 38, I believe this is the answer to D of that question.


MS. COCHRANE:  Sorry, part B?


MR. CURTIS:  D; D as in David.  And the $35 million that was derived out of that, basically what we're talking about here is that there are two ways of available for purchasing material.  

One way is through the purchase order system and another way is through procurement cards or P-cards.  

Now, through the purchase order system, Hydro One has an advantage in terms of economy of scale in terms of acquiring material.  So there is a saving by acquiring material through the purchase order system that is not available on the P-card system.  

So what this initiative allows us to do is to transfer more of the purchases over to the purchase order basis, away from the P-card purchase.  And that's how the saving of 35 million is derived.  

MS. COCHRANE:  Again, is this a saving to the distribution business?  Or both distribution and transmission?  

MR. CURTIS:  Both distribution and transmission save, as far as this is concerned.  And out of the $35 million total, about $15 million is on the distribution side.  

MS. COCHRANE:  Those are all of my questions.  

Thank you, panel.  

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Cross-examination by Mr. Millar: 

MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am also counsel for Board Staff, and I will be dealing with a few other issues.  I suspect many of the questions will be for Ms. McKellar.  

Let me start by just referring to Mr. DeVellis's exhibit from earlier today, K3.2.  That is the chart put together by the SEC.  

I think this helpfully just sort of sets out the numbers of employees from 2004 to 2008 with some of the information on the total pay.  Those were taken before --those numbers increase, obviously, over the last four to five years.  But I just want to follow up with a couple more questions.


If I understood the evidence correctly, approximately 40 percent of the new hires are for what we called attrition and that is to replace employees who are leaving mostly through retirement; is that right?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  That's our projection.  

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I also heard that 40 percent of your current employees are eligible to retire by 2012; did I get that right?  

MS. McKELLAR:  You got that right.  

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I take it you're hiring a bunch of new people now to replace people who are retiring both in this year and over the next two or three years; is that right?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  

MR. MILLAR:  So in that light can we expect the total number of staff will go down over the next three to four years as your sort of front-ending the hiring, which probably makes sense, but then we'll see the retirements over the next three years.  Can I expect, in the next rates case, to see that number lower?  

MS. McKELLAR:  The next rates case is a transmission rates case.  I don't think you will -- you should expect to see that number lower in the next rates case.  

I don't have the numbers with me over the next few years.  I -- do you have any?  

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't.  But just as a general comment.  The resource levels to achieve the work program and transmission and distribution will be directionally consistent with the work program levels that are put forward.  

So to the extent that future rate cases show increases in work program levels in transmission and distribution, then to the extent that some of the retirees are offset by new hiring to deal with yet new requirements, it is hard to say exactly how that will all balance out, but I would not necessarily expect it to go down in the future.  

MR. MILLAR:  And that makes sense, but let's put it this way:  All else being equal, would you expect that number to fall?  

MS. McKELLAR:  We would have to look at the number.  I haven't looked at that far past 2012 but I can tell you I do know from having looked at some retirement eligibility data about a week ago, that we have another enormous bubble happening in 2013 and 2014 in terms of retirees.  

So it is 40 percent that can go by 2012, and I know the following two years are a very high as well.  So we would have to look at that hiring to continue, as I said, in order to have people that are trained to take those jobs over.  

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, thank you for that.  

I guess you have sort of answered this question, but am I right in saying that the employees you're hiring to replace the retirees are, generally speaking, cheaper than the retirees?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Generally speaking, yes.  

MR. MILLAR:  So again, all else being equal, and I know you have spoken of another bubble coming up, but all else being equal, would you expect the pay per employee to go down as well over the next three years?  

MS. McKELLAR:  If you're talking about a specific employee, and we have already alluded to the progressions that they go, many of our employees are brought in through apprenticeship hiring and they get progression pay increases year over year so they will continue.  So the people we're bringing in this year will continue to have their pay go up.  

So I do not expect that individual employees will see their pay reduced, no. 

MR. MILLAR:  Not individuals.  I mean -- 

MS. McKELLAR:  Pay levels?  

MR. MILLAR:  Even though you have a worker now who is probably at the top of his maximum band, you're going to replace him or her with a new employee who will presumably be making a fair amount less money?  

MS. McKELLAR:  We have been hiring apprentices since 2000, so we're not replacing a journeyperson with a brand new power line trainee.  What we're doing is we have people that are all ready, that are going to come off as what we call "improvers".  They have been on the program for four years.  They go to another step.  

So I can't really tell you.  I wouldn't expect to see a decrease, no, in the wages overall because these people have all moved through the salary schedules and become fully competent.  

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  Could I ask you to turn to Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2 and page 1 of that exhibit.  I think we have looked at it before.  It is the table showing the total payroll from 2004 to 2008.  

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, I have that.  

MR. MILLAR:  In fact much of that information is on the exhibit I just took you to, but...

MS. McKELLAR:  Mm-hmm. 

MR. MILLAR:  I just have a couple of questions.  I think we have been over the total wages fairly thoroughly.  I won't bore people with that any further.  Just a couple of questions on overtime and incentive.  If we look at overtime, the jump from 2006 to 2008 isn't enormous by any stretch. Though it is a fairly steady progression from 2004.  It looks like it has gone up about $20 million over that amount of time.  

Could I just quickly ask you to -- you have discussed this to some extent, but if there is anything you can add.  What were are the key drivers in the increase, I guess, from 2006 to 2008, specifically.  

MS. McKELLAR:  Well, 2006 was an unusual year in that we had a lot of emergency overtime.  I think we had six force majeures, which was a record for us, and it was an unusual year with a lot of emergency overtime.  

As I said, we're focussing on our customers in terms of being a leading customer-focussed utility.  Having said that, our customers are telling us they want to see more outages done on the weekends, and we're doing more customer connects on the weekends.  So we know we'll continue to do overtime in order to have increased customer satisfaction.  

I should note, though, with regard to that.  We have put on what we call a weekend line shift, which is, it's -- they get their regular pay but they actually work Friday, Saturday and Sunday in order to reduce some the overtime associated with doing new customer connects on the weekend.
 So we -- actually, this number would be higher had we not put in that initiative. 

MR. MILLAR:  If I heard you correctly, 2006 was already a very busy year for overtime. 

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it was. 

MR. MILLAR:  You mentioned several, emergency situations?  

MS. McKELLAR:  Force majeures, which are the major storms that we had.  

MR. MILLAR:  How many did you have in 2006?  

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I believe I can help you in that regard.  If I can take you to Exhibit A, tab 15, schedule 1.  There is a discussion of service quality indicators in this exhibit.  They talk about the force majeure events in this exhibit as well. 

MR. MILLAR:  I am hearing the number 8 does that. 

MR. VAN DUSEN:  On page 9 of that exhibit, they talk about the eight force majeure events and specifically when they were and who was impacted. 

MR. MILLAR:  Are you expecting more than that for 2008?  

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I do not have that -- I am not a meteorologist, although my wife accuses me of watching the weather channel much too much.  I am not too sure -- I mean we plan on weather normal.  We don't plan on anything specifically.  We take a look at averages over the past three to five years and sort of extrapolate into what that might mean in terms of force majeure events, in terms of work requirements and so on and so forth.  So we take it into account.  In planning, we specifically take overtime into account, the potential for overtime.


MR. MILLAR:  I take it the three- to five-year average for force majeure is less than eight?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it certainly is.


MR. MILLAR:  I also heard that you are actually shifting some of the shifts so that they actually work on the weekends rather than that being overtime?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's customer connects.  That is planned work to connect new customers.  That is not emergency crews.


MR. MILLAR:  I didn't mean it was emergency, but it was overtime work, and now some of that won't be overtime work?


MS. McKELLAR:  Some of that, you're right.  We have reduced -- what the overtime would have otherwise been.


MR. MILLAR:  I guess I am still a little confused as to why we have a $7 million increase between 2006 and 2008.  The two things I have heard from you is there may be less overtime in that period.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Perhaps I can address it somewhat, and then Ms. McKellar can add.


Once again, the overtime you are taking a look at here is for the transmission and distribution business.


And the plans for combined transmission and distribution total work program increased significantly from 2006 to 2008.  In 2008, in terms of a planning average, what we do is we take a look at those classes of work or activities that traditionally get overtime associated with them.


You can identify, from historical trends, what people are going to be working on, demand calls out in storms.  You know what types of crew.  So we have done some of the assessment of what, in a weather normal period, would be the amount of overtime associated with that level of crew or activity.


So to the extent that the overall system gets larger, there are more poles that can be marked down.  There's more damage that can be done to the system and you're doing more work.  One would expect that the overtime could potentially go up in a planned sense.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So we have discussed three possible drivers, one being major storms, one being weekend work and a third being that the system is larger.


As I see it, only one of those actually increases costs.  The other decreases costs.


Are there any other drivers that are pushing up overtime costs that I am missing?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. McKELLAR:  I am not sure whether this is helpful, to say it another way, but we have a very large transmission capital program ahead of us, as you know, and that is driving up much of the staff numbers that you see today.


Those outages that are taken by grid operations are being taken on the weekend, by and large, and that is -- yet again, that is a transmission-related thing, but it is going to result in large amounts of overtime.


MR. MILLAR:  But you wouldn't be recovering overtime work for the transmission system through the distribution rates, would you?


MS. McKELLAR:  Oh, absolutely not.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Once again, we're taking -- we're taking this number you're looking at as a total overtime for the combined company, and one of the major factors driving it is as Ms. McKellar just outlined.


MR. MILLAR:  I do get a little confused with the --


MS. McKELLAR:  I was trying to say this is an integrated number, but, yet again, it is a problem with trying to present the payroll, which is an integrated work force.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  I am going to move to the incentive payments.  I see from 2006 to 2008 they have about doubled, and you provided some helpful information in response to some of the interrogatories.  I am not going to go through that.


I have just one additional question, really, and that is:  Are any of your incentive payments tied to the company's net income or financial performance?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  In fact, we have gone over this in some length in the last two hearings, and you will find it in the testimony in some of the interrogatories of previous years.


We had a balanced score card.  We still do 12 measures this year, I believe.  It was 14 last year, one of which is net income.


When this is reviewed, net income is not weighted.  It's a holistic view, if you will, in terms of how the company's done.  And so we do have a measure on net income, but it is one of 14.


MR. MILLAR:  You said they're not weighted?


MS. McKELLAR:  None of them are weighted.


MR. MILLAR:  One of 12 or 14?


MS. McKELLAR:  It was 14 last year.  Excuse me, I should...


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I would have to check the number.  It is between 12 and 14.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  It's one, and it is not weighted?  Okay.  Well, maybe I will leave that one at that.


My final set of questions are on the Hay Group report.


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  That is at Exhibit A, tab 15, schedule 2, attachment B.  You had a number of questions on this.


Maybe I will start just by trying to get a sense of what this report is intended to show and what it's not intended to show.


As I read it - and please tell me if you think I have it wrong - it evaluates compensation rates for three positions within the company by comparing them with 14 other organizations; is that right?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  What it doesn't tell us, for example, is whether or not you have the appropriate number of people in those positions; is that fair?


MS. McKELLAR:  No, that was never the intent of this study.


MR. MILLAR:  I am not saying it was the intent, but it doesn't show us that?


MS. McKELLAR:  It doesn't show that.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


If I could ask you to turn to page 1 where you -- I'm sorry, where they set out the purpose of the study, I guess it is the second sentence says:   

"As a result, Hydro One issued an RFP from which Hay Group was selected to conduct a custom survey of labour rates and overtime policies for three benchmark positions."


Who decided that it would be three benchmark positions?  Was that you or was that Hay?


MS. McKELLAR:  It was Hydro One in consultation with Hay.  I should tell you that the three jobs that we chose, we chose them because they contained a large number of employees.


So, for example, the engineering classification would be the largest one we have represented by the Society.


The power line maintainer -- regional maintainer, I should say, once again, largest classification, and band 7s are the largest classification of management staff in the company.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am going to get to that in just a second.


In terms of the comparators, I know that they sent out the survey, the questions to 17, and I believe they got responses from 14; is that right?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Who selected the comparators?  Was that Hay or was that Hydro One, or was that in consultation?


MS. McKELLAR:  That was in consultation.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  In terms of the three positions you picked, let me just start with the first one.  The first one is field operations manager.


You said that is the largest group from the Society?  No, it's the manager, obviously, so --


MS. McKELLAR:  First line management, and it contains the largest number of incumbents of all of the management categories, would be this.


MR. MILLAR:  How many employees do you have in that category?


MS. McKELLAR:  I may have this.  If you give me a minute, I may have the number.


I am afraid I don't have that number with me.


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I can make this easy and put an undertaking request to you, but let me fill it out.  What I'm asking are, for all three positions, if you could tell me the number of people -- so, for example, field operations manager, if you could tell me how many field operations managers there are.


MS. McKELLAR:  Hm-hmm.


MR. MILLAR:  Then if you could give me how many managers in total you have, so we would get the percentage of your managers that are covered by this survey.


Then I would like the same thing for the design engineer and the power line maintainer, so we could get an understanding of, first, how many design engineers there are, and then how many -- is that Society or is that the Power Workers' Union?


MS. McKELLAR:  Design engineers are represented by the Society.


MR. MILLAR:  So then I could know the total number of Society employees.  Could I get an undertaking that would give us the numbers for those three?


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, you can.  


MR. MILLAR:  And that is J3.13.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.13:  TO PROVIDE BREAKDOWN OF THREE BENCHMARK POSITIONS FROM A, TAB 15, SCHEDULE 2, ATTACHMENT B, PAGE 1.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thanks.  that will make this faster.


If I can turn to page 2, it sounds like I am going to take forever here, but I realize...


 I just want to get a clear understanding on what the -- the executive summary is a helpful tool to obviously get the big picture here, so I want to see what it is telling us.


It gives the -- shows us where Hydro One sits for the hourly wage at the minimum and maximum; is that right?


MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  What it doesn't tell us is how many employees Hydro One or any of the comparators, for that matter, have at either the minimum or maximum.


MS. McKELLAR:  No, it doesn't.


MR. MILLAR:  So it is possible that Hydro One, for example, may have -- especially since they have so many retirements coming up in the next three years, they may be more heavily weighted towards the maximum rate than the comparators; is that possible?


MS. McKELLAR:  I don't think it is likely, given the comparator groups all have the same demographics that we have.


MR. MILLAR:  That's fair.  Maybe it is more fair to say we don't know for sure.  This study doesn't tell us.


MS. McKELLAR:  This study does not tell us; that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  The hourly rates, that I assume wouldn't take into account overtime; is that right?


MS. McKELLAR:  The hourly rates are just the hourly rates, no overtime.


MR. MILLAR:  It wouldn't take into account the fact that Hydro One workers tend to have a fair amount of overtime?


MS. McKELLAR:  It depends who you're talking about, of course.


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  The comparators may, as well, but this doesn't tell us anything about that?


MS. McKELLAR:  It doesn't tell us.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


I had some questions about the Hay's points, but I think that is more or less clear on the record now.  I think I've got it, so I will skip that.


Okay.  If you could turn to the very end, page 18.  First of all, just let me confirm.  Is page 18 the last page of the report?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  Because you referenced something that I picked up earlier.  It says at the top, the second sentence says it is comprised of four standardized factors.  Then there are three standardized factors.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you help me with that?

MS. McKELLAR:  I believe the fourth is working conditions.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you know --

MS. McKELLAR:  It is not contained in this report.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have any insight as to why it is not there?

MS. McKELLAR:  No, I do not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am just about finished here.  One last short set of questions.

In his examination-in-chief with you this morning, Mr. Rogers mentioned that the company is, I think, recognizes that this is a snapshot, perhaps, but maybe not the whole picture when it comes to compensation rates and that the company has undertaken, with somebody, to do a more complete review of salary levels?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell me a little bit more about that and what it is expected to be finished.

MS. McKELLAR:  It's being conducted by Mercers.  It has been stakeholdered, as I said earlier.  We met many times with the stakeholders interested in this.  It will be total compensation so it will include benefits and pension plan, as well as base wages.

It will be filed in time for the transmission hearing.

MR. MILLAR:  When is that?

MS. McKELLAR:  Um... I would have to ask one of my regulatory...

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Soon.

MS. McKELLAR:  Later this year, I am told.

MR. ROGERS:  I believe that it is hoped to be filed in late fall.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  It will be too late for this case, though, I take it?

MS. McKELLAR:  It's not completed yet.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  Hydro One Distribution won't be in for rebasing for another three years, am I right?  Maybe Mr. Rogers can answer that.  Your incentive regulation --


MR. ROGERS:  These witnesses, I don't think, will know that.  But my understanding now is that the company intends to, once it is rebased this year, to rely on the incentive regulation for the next year, at least, and probably next two years, but I can't really comment beyond that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Just give me one second.

Thank you.  Those are my questions.

Questions from the Board:


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Curtis, only one question.  In your exchange with Ms. Cochrane with respect to Cornerstone, you responded that distribution customers are also transmission customers.

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. VLAHOS:  Can you just give me an idea as to what proportion of -- I guess maybe the revenue or cost, I don't know you pick the metric goes to your distribution customers versus your other customers.

I am not sure that I want to necessarily zero in on the Cornerstone project, but just generally, can you help me with that?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I can.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.

MR. CURTIS:  I think probably the best metric to use here is load.  Transmission rates are charged to customers based on peak loading that occurs.

For our distribution customers, the average monthly peak load comprises about 15 percent of the total transmission load.

So I believe what we're looking at in this case is about 15 percent.

If you were to apply that to what we're talking about, in terms of savings, there are 30 percent of the savings that are allocated to distribution through the detailed study that we did, and I would offer that there is another 15 percent as far as the -- coming through the transmission rates.  And that comes, I think, very close to the approximate 44 percent of the costs that are allocated for Cornerstone phase 1 to the distribution side of our business.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.  That does help.  The fact that distribution customers benefit twice, if you
like --

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS: -- does that give you some sort of comfort that you can be more relaxed about the accuracy or robustness of your cost allocation studies?

MR. CURTIS:  No, I wouldn't consider that.  I think we're very clear in terms of our intent to do our cost allocation to transmission and distribution on the best basis possible.

We, I think maybe Mr. Van Dusen perhaps would be better at talking about the cost-allocation methodology, but I would not say that we would treat this any more lightly, just because distribution customers get a benefit because of the transmission side.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you for that.

MR. KAISER:  I just have a few questions.  The first one is actually for you, Mr. Rogers.  Can you clarify -- not necessarily now, but next day, you just suggested -- I want to know the extent to which this decision is a rebasing decision for an incentive rate plan.  You mentioned it might be one year, it might be two years, just exactly what it does represent in your mind.

MR. ROGERS:  I will confirm that.  I believe it is two years, the present intent, but I will confirm that for you.

MR. KAISER:  Could I just ask you, panel, a few questions on this Hay matter.

Apparently 17 organizations were contacted, of which 14 decided to participate.  And they participated in a survey.  Is it possible to get a copy of the actual survey that was sent out by the Hay group to the 14 organizations?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, sir, it is.

MR. KAISER:  All right thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J3.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.14:  TO PROVIDE COPY OF HAY GROUP SURVEY

MR. KAISER:  I understand what you have done here and lots of questions have been asked on it.  But I want you to look at something.  I will get it to you.  I don't have it here.  But in the OPG case which just finished, this whole question of benchmarking came up, and finally they agreed on comparable – comparators, I guess you would say, and measured such things as their costs per production megawatt and certain standard indices that you might say reflected productivity as opposed to comparing minimum wages and maximum wages and that kinds of thing.

Having regard to the 14 organizations that apparently agreed to participate in this, is there work underway to calculate what I could call comparisons in productivity by different functions whether it is total costs per kilowatt-hour distributed, or more economy-wide, if I can use that term, what we refer to more as productivity indices?  Anything being done in that area?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, they can.  Once again, I will call your attention to the exhibit we filed in these proceedings, we did file a PA Consulting Group performance benchmarking study as part of this.

MR. KAISER:  Right.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We are intending, in terms of transmission, of doing further work in that area, in terms of performance benchmarking and productivity and bringing it back in front of the Board.

MR. KAISER:  One last question.  You may not have considered this, but there are 14 organizations listed here -- and this is page 3 of the Hay report -- various utilities.  They're all Canadian utilities.

What company do you consider yourself most comparable to?  Or do you have a view on that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I will take a first crack, and then Ms. McKellar can probably correct me.

I am not too sure this is going to be the answer you want, sir, but I think it depends on the metric you are comparing and that is the difficulty, of course, with benchmarking over a wide range of items.  To the extent that you pick one particular metric, you quite possibly can go and find a utility or a business which is most like you with that respect to that metric, whether it be, you know, tree-trimming, whether it be cycle time, whether it be cost per kilometre, OM&A costs per kilometre, I think you could probably look at different items.
 Then if you go into the salary and compensation area, I suspect it might be the same, Ms. McKellar, that it depends on whether you're looking at overtime policies, or a construction worker or a senior management, that those levels would, it would be different.

MS. McKELLAR:  I would like to add one thing, though.  It is in the evidence, and we were Ontario Hydro and we came over to Hydro One with these legacy collective agreements, which dictated what the hours were, and benefits and pension and all of this.


There was -- when we were Ontario Hydro, there was a natural tie point between some of the jobs represented by the Power Workers' Union, so we were Ontario Hydro and we had -- what they were was mechanical maintainer, which is still found at Ontario Power Generation and Bruce Power, which had the same wage rate as our regional maintainer, which you have seen a lot of today.


It's interesting.  So we have had -- what we've looked at is trying to contain our costs.  We knew we weren't going to roll them back for existing employees, so we were containing our costs.  So if you look at today, the rates, our rates for that tie point job are anywhere between 17 and 21 percent less than the mechanical maintainers from the legacy Ontario Hydro, which I think is illustrative of our efforts, through bargaining and other things, to keep those costs down.  


They are lower than the tie point was when we were Ontario Hydro.


MR. KAISER:  Then, lastly, two questions.  Did these productivity studies or benchmark studies get presented to your board of directors?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, I can confirm our board of directors and senior management team are extremely interested in productivity and efficiency and effectiveness.


They have had presentations to them on several occasions on productivity across the various areas.


MR. KAISER:  Are there any productivity studies or benchmark studies that you have completed that you haven't produced here?


MS. McKELLAR:  Not that I am aware of.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, let me -- I will get to your question directly in a minute.  I have an area that works directly for me in my responsibilities as director of business integration that does perform this analysis.


This group is associated and does a lot of work with the CEA, CIGRE and other best practice work.  So we are constantly doing -- participating in benchmarking efforts and best practice efforts on an ongoing basis and sharing that information with the planners, in terms of making sure that they have advantage of that information so that they can build it into our work planning.


So, on one hand, do I have a formal -- another big study sitting on the shelf back at the office that we didn't present?  No, but do I have a lot of work ongoing on this, in this area?  Yes, I have a lot of work ongoing and we do a lot of participation through associations and stakeholder groups.


MR. KAISER:  Do you have anything that would be meaningful for us, whether it is on the shelf or in your drawer?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Perhaps I can take it under advisement to take a look at what we have.


MR. KAISER:  I'm not trying to put you on the spot.  I just would like to know if there is more lying around.


MR. ROGERS:  Sure.  Well, let us enquire.  As the witness has said, there is work ongoing all the time.  Whether there is anything in --


MR. KAISER:  If it's not, you can tell us the status.


MR. ROGERS:  We will check and see what is available, Mr. Kaiser, and we will let you if there is anything more we can provide.  If there is, we certainly will.


MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J3.15.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.15:  PROVIDE FURTHER PRODUCTIVITY STUDIES OR BENCHMARK STUDIES, IF ANY AVAILABLE.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rogers, do you have anything?

Re-examination by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  I have one question.  It won't be very long.


Ms. McKellar, I think probably you're the best one to answer this.  We had a lot of talk today about wage rates and overall payroll for the company.


You said just a few moments ago that one of the problems we have is we've been dealing with consolidated figures for both distribution and transmission.  You also made the point a moment ago that a lot is going on in transmission which may be affecting the overall level of costs and employees.


MS. McKELLAR:  Right.


MR. ROGERS:  For example, we've been through many times this afternoon that there are approximately 1,000 new employees being added to your roster in 2008, the forecast for that; right?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Can you give us some sense -- I don't want a detailed answer, but give the Board some sense, if you could, as to what proportion of those additional employees or what proportion of the additional work that they will be doing that will be attributable to transmission as opposed to distribution?


MS. McKELLAR:  I would say when I look at especially the casual numbers, which are hiring call, CUSW, building trades, the majority is going to be on the transmission, the engineering construction services, large transmission projects.  


I believe some of them are written up in the evidence, but it is -- Bruce to Milton would be an example, Claireville, Cherrywood, a lot of these big transmission projects.  That also impacts on grid operations where, as I said, that they're involved in this, as well.  So they're adding staff in order to be able to take on these large projects.


So, by and large, it would be -- large percentage.


MR. ROGERS:  Okay.  You told us many times today they work on both distribution and transmission, and you can't pigeonhole them, necessarily.


So a large percentage, is that the best you can do?


MS. McKELLAR:  Absolutely.  It is definitely a large percentage will be based on the transmission projects that are coming up.


MR. ROGERS:  I guess we will see them in late fall.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, panel.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.


MS. EFFENDI:  Mr. Chairman, if I could simply add one final matter.  I just wanted to follow up on the issue of the Hopper Foundry that my colleague, Mr. DeRose, had addressed earlier this week.


I think Mr. Rogers and Hydro One have agreed that they have no issue, as Mr. -- if Mr. John Vickers, the manager of Hopper Foundry, comes in as a witness to present his evidence.  He will do so I guess at the end of the hearing.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I said if I wished to come.  He may not have complied with all of the technical requirements, but my client will do all he can to ensure he gets his voice.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  We will hear from him at the proper time.


MS. EFFENDI:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  9:30 Tuesday.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:40 p.m.
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